DISS. ETH NO. 23020

### TNF-dependent alveolar macrophage and ROS-dependent neutrophil mediated mechanisms control *Legionella pneumophila* lung infection

A thesis submitted to attain the degree of

#### DOCTOR OF SCIENCES OF ETH ZURICH

(DR. SC. ETH ZURICH)

presented by

#### PASCAL D. S. ZILTENER

MSc, Dalhousie University

born on 13.01.1982 Winterthur, Zürich / Schübelbach, Schwyz

accepted on the recommendation of

Prof. Dr. Annette Oxenius (examiner) Prof. Dr. Salomé LeibundGut (co-examiner) Prof. Dr. Pascal Schneider (co-examiner)

Zürich, 2015

Never give up. You only get one life. Go for it!

-Richard E. Grant

### **Table of contents**

Table of contentsi
Summaryiv
Résumév
Abbreviationsvi
Introduction1
Immunity and the lung
Innate pattern recognition receptors
TNF and ROS in inflammation and immune defense4
Legionella pneumophila in the environment and lung infection
The immune response to <i>L. pneumophila</i> 9
Aims of the thesis12
Results
TNF and ROS are important for clearance of <i>L. pneumophila in vivo</i>
MN-TNF NAIP5 <sup>129S1</sup> mice have a hypofunctional NAIP5 allele14
TNF acts via TNFR1 to control <i>L. pneumophila</i> infection
TNF / TNFR1 signaling contributes to AM but not neutrophil-mediated killing of <i>L. pneumophila in vivo</i>
ROS are required for efficient neutrophil but not AM-mediated killing of <i>L. pneumophila in vivo</i>
In vivo, neutrophils but not AM produce ROS in response to L. pneumophila infection 19
The extent to which ROS-deficient neutrophils contribute to <i>L. pneumophila</i> clearance <i>in vivo</i> remains inconclusive following neutrophil depletion experiments
TNF mediates an anti-bacterial effect in macrophages via TNFR1, which is independent of
NLRC4 and ROS

Endogenous BMDM-derived TNF does not compensate for reduced NAIP5 signaling in BMDM <i>in vitro</i>
<i>In vivo</i> , TNF produced by neutrophils and monocytes enhances AM-mediated killing of <i>L. pneumophila</i> , and can compensate for lack of NLRC4
Caspases do not appear to play a role in TNF-mediated inhibition of <i>L. pneumophila</i> replication in BMDM
TNF induces the fusion of LCVs with lysosomal compartments in macrophages
The antibacterial mechanism mediated by TNF in macrophages is dependent on cathepsin B and lysosomal acidification, and is independent of caspase 1 and 11, and cathepsin D 31
Autophagy and mitochondrial ROS do not appear to play a role in TNF-mediated inhibition of <i>L. pneumophila</i> replication in BMDM
CCR2 <sup>+</sup> monocytes might be important for the clearance of <i>L. pneumophila in vivo</i>
Cytokines in the BALF of <i>L. pneumophila</i> infected mice
MN-TNF NAIP5 <sup>129S1</sup> BMDM do not produce IL-6 in response to
L. pneumophila infection
L. pneumophila may differentiate into MIFs in neutrophils but not AM
Discussion
Materials and Methods53
Mice and <i>L. pneumophila</i> infections
In vitro L. pneumophila infection of BMDM
In vitro L. pneumophila infection of autophagy deficient cell line
Neutrophil depletion experiments
DT treatment of CCR2-DTR mice
Microscopy experiments

Antibodies and Flow cytometry	55
ROS assay	56
CBA assay	56
Statistical analysis	56
Acknowledgments	57
References	58
Curriculum Vitae	67

#### Summary

Legionella pneumophila is a facultative intracellular bacterium that lives in aquatic environments where it parasitizes amoeba. However, upon inhalation of contaminated aerosols it can infect and replicate in macrophages, including human alveolar macrophages (AM), which can result in Legionnaires' disease, a severe form of pneumonia. Upon experimental airway infection of mice, L. pneumophila is rapidly controlled by innate immune mechanisms. Here we identified, on a cell-type specific level, the key innate effector functions responsible for rapid control of infection. We show that in addition to the well-characterized NLRC4-NAIP5 flagellin recognition pathway, tumor necrosis factor (TNF) and reactive oxygen species (ROS) are also essential for effective innate immune control of L. pneumophila. While ROS are essential for the bactericidal activity of neutrophils, AM rely on neutrophil and monocytederived TNF signaling via TNFR1 to restrict bacterial replication. This TNF-mediated antibacterial mechanism depends on cathepsin B, the acidification of lysosomes and their fusion with L. pneumophila containing vacuoles (LCVs), and is independent of NLRC4, caspase-1, caspase-11 and ROS. In this thesis, we highlight the differential utilization of innate effector pathways to curtail intracellular bacterial replication in specific host cells upon L. pneumophila airway infection. In addition, these studies expand our knowledge of the mechanisms by which TNF contributes to the control of intracellular pathogens.

#### Résumé

Legionella pneumophila est une bactérie facultative intracellulaire qui vit dans des environnements aquatiques, où elle se reproduit de manière parasitaire dans les amibes. Cependant une fois qu'elle est aspirée dans les poumons d'un humain (ou d'une souris), elle peut infecter et se reproduire dans les macrophages alvéolaires (MA), ce qui peut causer une pneumonie sévère nommée la maladie du légionnaire. Après infection expérimentale des voies respiratoires chez la souris, L. pneumophila est rapidement contrôlée par des mécanismes immunitaires innés. Dans nos recherches, nous avons identifié pour plusieurs types cellulaires les principales fonctions effectrices innées permettant le contrôle rapide de cette infection. Nous montrons qu'en plus de la voie immunitaire bien caractérisée qui reconnaît la flagelline grâce à NAIP5-NLRC4, le facteur de nécrose tumorale (TNF) et les espèces réactives de l'oxygène (ROS) sont également essentiels pour le contrôle immunitaire innée de L. pneumophila. Alors que les ROS sont essentiels à l'activité bactéricide des neutrophiles, les macrophages alvéolaires dépendent du TNF produit par les neutrophiles et les monocytes, qui transmet un signal dans les MA via le TNFR1 pour empêcher la réplication de L. pneumophila. Ce mécanisme antibactérien médié par le TNF dépend de la cathepsine B, de l'acidification des lysosomes et de leur fusion avec avec les vacuoles contenant L. pneumophila, et est indépendant du NLRC4, de la caspase-1, de la caspase-11 et des ROS. Dans cette thèse, nous mettons en évidence l'utilisation différentielle des voies effectrices innées pour limiter la réplication bactérienne intracellulaire dans des cellules hôtes spécifiques, dans le contexte d'une infection des voies respiratoires par L. pneumophila. En outre, ces études approfondissent nos connaissances sur les mécanismes par lesquels le TNF lutte contre les agents pathogènes intracellulaires.

### Abbreviations

a.a.	Amino acid
AEC	Airway epithelial cell
AM	Alveolar macrophage
AMP	Adenosine monophosphate
AP-1	Activator protein-1
Atg5	Autophagy-related 5
BMDM	Bone marrow-derived macrophage
CR1	Type 1 complement receptor
CR3	Type 3 complement receptor
DAMP	Danger associated molecular patters
DC	Dendritic cell
DHE	Dihydroethidium
DT	Diphtheria toxin
ER	Endoplasmic reticulum
FACS	Florescence-activated cell sorting
GAP	GTPase activating protein
GEF	Guanine nucleotide exchange factor
hNAIP	Human NAIP
i.p.	Intraperitoneal
i.v.	Intravenous
IFN	Interferon
IFNAR	Type I interferon receptor
IL	Interleukin
КО	Knockout
LCV	Legionella containing vacuole
LPS	Lipopolysaccharide
LRR	Leucine rich repeat
MagA	MIF-associated gene A
MAP	Mitogen-activated protein
MIF	Mature infectious from
NAIP	Neuronal apoptosis inhibitor protein
NFκB	Nuclear factor kB
NK	Natural killer
NLR	Nucleotide-binding domain leucine-rich repeat containing
NLRC4	NLR family, CARD domain containing 4
NLRP3	NLR family, pyrin domain containing 3
PAMP	Pathogen associated molecular pattern
PCR	Polymerase chain reaction
PKR	double-stranded RNA-activated protein kinase
PRR	Pattern recognition receptor
qPCR	Quantitative real time PCR
RIG-1	Retinoic-acid-inducible gene protein 1

RLR	RIG-1-like receptors
ROS	Reactive oxygen species
SP	Surfactant protein
T3SS	Type 3 secretion system
T4SS	Type 4 secretion system
TLR	Toll like receptor
TNF	Tumor necrosis factor
WT	Wild type
v-ATPase	Vacuolar H <sup>+</sup> -ATPase
VBNC	Viable but non-culturable

#### Introduction

#### **Immunity and the lung**

In order to efficiently exchange oxygen and carbon dioxide between the air and the blood, the human lung has a large surface area made up of over 300 million alveoli, and these are exposed each day to up to 15 000 L of air [1,2]. Consequently, the lung is also an immunologically relevant microbial entry site, as it is frequently exposed to airborne bacteria and other potential pathogens, and various defense mechanisms have evolved to prevent their local entry and subsequent systemic spread. Perhaps the most important of these defense mechanisms are the tissue inherent mechanical and physical barrier components and the mucosal innate immune system in the lung, which prevent access of microbes to epithelia and the underlying tissue and / or remove contaminants and infectious agents without inducing an overt inflammatory response [3]. These mechanisms include the mucociliary system, which traps foreign particles in mucus and sweeps them towards the laryngopharynx for clearance via the digestive system [4]. In addition, mucus contains many antimicrobial peptides and proteins including antibodies [5]. For example, surfactant proteins such as the collectins can neutralize lipopolysaccharide (LPS), and antimicrobial molecules such as defensins and cathelicidins can bind and kill bacteria [4]. These innate defense systems block chemical and biological threats alike and are essential for maintaining the lungs in an uninflamed state. Genetic disorders such as primary ciliary dyskinesias, in which cilia are dysfunctional, resulting in recurrent bacterial infections and chronic lung inflammation, highlight the critical importance of these systems [3,6].

In addition, the lung is protected by a network of innate immune cells and non-immune cells such as airway epithelial cells that detect pathogens by germline-encoded pattern recognition receptors (PRRs) that recognize microbial molecules and can rapidly initiate pro-inflammatory responses [3]. Pathogen-associated tissue damage and cellular stress can cause the release or upregulation of endogenous molecules, which can also trigger an immune response via detection by PRRs [3,7,8]. Alveolar macrophages (AMs), epithelial cells, natural killer (NK) cells and other lung resident cells can then produce cytokines and chemokines, which amplify inflammation, culminating in the infiltration of neutrophils, monocytes and other immune cells. Concurrently dendritic cells (DCs) initiate the adaptive immune response, by processing foreign antigens and displaying them to T cells and B cells in the draining lymph nodes. The inflammatory environment within the lung is shaped by the type of pathogen involved, and influences the quality of the adaptive immune response that is eventually mounted against the

pathogen [9,10]. For instance, *Streptococcus pneumoniae* is a gram positive bacterium that causes infection in the lungs, and is the most common cause of community acquired pneumonia [11]. Pneumococcal pneumonia is characterized by IL-1 $\beta$ , TNF and IL-6 but not IFN $\gamma$ , and IFN $\gamma$  is not protective against this infection in mice [11-13]. In contrast, IFN $\gamma$  and downstream iNOS are critical for the control of *Mycobacterium tuberculosis*, an intracellular bacterium responsible for respiratory infection in a third of the world's population [14-16].

#### **Innate pattern recognition receptors**

A defining feature of innate PRRs is their ability to recognize a wide variety of related molecules with significant molecular differences, which are usually indispensable features common to large groups of microorganisms [17]. For example, Toll-like receptor 4 (TLR4) recognizes LPS from a broad spectrum of bacterial species, despite the fact that these LPS molecules have unique molecular characteristics and variable side chain lengths [3]. In this way, a limited number of germline-encoded PRRs can detect a wide range of microbial molecules.

PRRs can be roughly organized into three general categories, including signaling PRRs, endocytic PRRs and secreted PRRs [1]. Secreted PRRs are primarily opsonins which bind to pathogens and serve to facilitate their ingestion by phagocytes. For instance, surfactant proteins A and D (SP-A and SP-D) are collectins, members of the type C lectin superfamily, that can bind to glycosylated structures in the cell wall of some microorganisms, resulting in their neutralization or opsonization [1]. Elements of the complement system such as C3b and C4b also fall into this category [18].

Endocytic PRRs on the surface of phagocytic cells are important for binding pathogens prior to phagocytosis. For example, neutrophils and macrophages can bind and internalize IgG opsonized particles via Fc receptors, and also express complement receptors with which they can efficiently phagocytose particles opsonized with complement components [19]. In addition, macrophages express many receptors that directly recognize microbial components, such as the mannose receptor and type A scavenger receptors [20]. Mac-1, also known as complement receptor 3, is a heterodimer of CD11b and  $\beta$ 2 integrin expressed on macrophages, monocytes and neutrophils which binds iC3b and C4b opsonized bacteria [21]. Finally, non-immune cells such as epithelial cells are equipped with  $\beta$ 1 integrins, which also enable them to phagocytose bacteria [22].

The third category of PRR, signaling PRRs, transduce a signal into the cell upon binding to their ligands, resulting in the translocation of transcription factors into the nucleus and the mobilization of inflammatory responses. This can make the cell receiving the signal more restrictive to viral or bacterial pathogens as well as result in the secretion of cytokines and chemokines that can affect neighboring cells and impact the nature of the subsequent adaptive immune response [1]. The three major subfamilies of signaling PRRs that have been characterized to date will be discussed here, including Toll-like receptors (TLRs), nucleotide-binding domain leucine-rich repeat containing (NLR) proteins and retinoic-acid-inducible gene protein 1 (RIG-1)-like receptors (RLRs).

TLRs are transmembrane proteins that evolved in ancestors common to both plants and animals, and are able to detect pathogens both at the cell surface as well as in endosomal compartments [9,23]. There are ten TLRs in humans (TLR 1-10) and twelve in mice (TLR 1-9, 11-13) [8]. They are expressed on many immune cells including macrophages, DCs, B cells, T cells, mast cells and neutrophils, as well as structural cells including endothelial cells, smooth muscle cells and epithelial cells in the skin and mucosal tissues [8,24,25]. All TLRs other than TLR3 signal through the adaptor protein MyD88 resulting in the activation of nuclear factor  $\kappa$ B (NF $\kappa$ B) and activator protein-1 (AP-1), leading to the expression of pro-inflammatory cytokines [8,9]. In addition, TLR3 and TLR4 signal via the adaptor protein TRIF which can result in the production of type I interferons (IFNs) [8]. TLRs can respond to both pathogen associated molecular patters (PAMPs) and danger associated molecular patters (DAMPs), alerting the immune system to the presence of pathogens or cellular damage, respectively [9]. TLR 1, 2, 4, 5, 6 and 10 are expressed on the cell surface and mainly recognize ligands derived from bacteria, while TLR 3, 7, 8 and 9 are expressed in endosomes and recognize viral and other nucleic acids [8,9].

NLRs represent another large family of PRRs, with over 20 members identified in humans and over 30 in mice [26]. NLRs are cytosolic sensor proteins, some of which assemble into multiprotein high-molecular-weight complexes termed inflammasomes and recruit and activate proinflammatory proteases such as caspase-1 in response to PAMPs and DAMPs [27]. Surprisingly little is known about how NLRs detect their ligands and become activated, despite intensive research efforts [28]. As an example, NLRP3 mediates inflammasome assembly in response to a host of structurally unrelated PAMPs and DAMPs, and it is generally thought that NLRP3 senses changes in cellular homeostasis, such as redox status or ion concentrations, rather than directly sensing molecular motifs [29]. For instance, there is evidence indicating

that endoplasmic reticulum (ER) stress results in the release of  $Ca^{2+}$  from the ER into the cytoplasm, and the subsequent damage done to microchondria upon uptake of this Ca<sup>2+</sup> triggers an NLRP3-mediated immune response [30]. However, the involvement of mitochondrial reactive oxygen species (ROS) and other ions such as  $K^+$ , as well as the point of convergence common to all NLRP3 agonists remains to be elucidated [29]. Perhaps the best-characterized member of the NLR family is NLRC4, which upon activation mediates inflammasome activation and inflammasome assembly. It is now understood that NLRC4 is an adaptor protein, which oligomerizes with another set of NLR proteins, the neuronal apoptosis inhibitor proteins (NAIPs), once the latter bind to their cytoplasmic ligands. Mouse NAIP1 detects type 3 secretion system (T3SS) needle protein, NAIP2 detects T3SS rod protein, and NAIP5 and NAIP6 both detect flagellin [31]. The only human NAIP (hNAIP) characterized thus far recognizes T3SS needle protein, and though it is widely believed that it does not additionally recognize flagellin, this is still a point of contention [32-35]. Thus rather than targeting the rapidly evolving T3SS effector proteins, which also differ between bacteria, NAIP proteins target essential, conserved virulence factors which are accidentally injected into the host cell by bacterial secretion systems [29]. By sensing changes in cellular homeostasis in the case of NLRP3, and by integrating the detection of multiple conserved bacterial proteins in the case of NLRC4, both of these NLRs demonstrate an elegant design that helps multicellular organisms win the molecular arms race with rapidly evolving pathogens.

RLRs are cytoplasmic receptors, including three described family members, namely RIG-1, melanoma differentiation-associated gene 5 (MDA5) and laboratory of genetics and physiology 2 (LGP2) [36]. These PRRs have been shown to induce NF $\kappa$ B activation and type I interferons (IFN) in response to non-self RNA species generated as a byproduct of viral replication [37]. Indeed, cells deficient in both RIG-I and MDA5 do not produce type I IFN upon viral infection, demonstrating that these PRRs are essential for detecting cytoplasmic viral RNA [37].

#### TNF and ROS in inflammation and immune defense

TNF is a pleiotropic cytokine that is essential to many inflammatory processes through its role in activating pro-inflammatory transcription factors such as NF- $\kappa$ B and enhancing immune cell survival, but can also have the seemingly opposite effect of triggering cell death, depending on the context of signaling [38]. TNF is synthesized as a 26 kDa transmembrane molecule (memTNF), which can be cleaved by tumor necrosis factor-alpha converting enzyme (TACE) to yield a 17 kDa soluble molecule (sTNF) [39,40]. It is thought to be produced mainly by macrophages and T cells, but can also be synthesized by many other cell types, including B cells, neutrophils, NK cells, mast cells, smooth muscle cells, cardiomyocytes, fibroblasts, DCs and many others [38]. Both forms are active as homotrimers, and signal through one of two receptors, TNFR1 and TNFR2. TNFR1 is expressed on almost all cell types except erythrocytes, while TNFR2 is expressed mainly on immune and endothelial cells [41]. In contrast to TNFR2, TNFR1 contains a death domain (DD) in its cytoplasmic tail, and has a higher affinity for TNF than TNFR2 [42]. The complexity of TNF regulation is enhanced by the fact that TACE is able to convert both TNFR1 and TNFR2 into soluble molecules, which are released from the cell. The soluble receptors can bind TNF, resulting either in the downregulation of TNF bioactivity, or prolonged TNF bioactivity via its protection from degradation [43].

Upon binding to TNFR1, TNF induces signal transduction that can lead to stimulation of cell survival and the expression of pro-inflammatory genes, through the induction of many transcription factors, the most important of which are NF- $\kappa$ B and AP-1 [38]. Another important pro-inflammatory feature of TNF signaling is the activation of the mitogen-activated protein kinases (MAPK) [44]. In this case the so called signaling complex I is formed, where the silencer of the death domain (SODD) dissociates from the DD, followed by the recruitment of TNFR type 1-associated death domain protein (TRADD), TNF-receptor-associated factor-2 (TRAF-2) and receptor interacting protein-1 (RIP-1) [42,45,46]. TRAF-2 and RIP-1 are required for NF- $\kappa$ B activation via the degradation of I $\kappa$ B kinase (IKK) [47]. The pro-inflammatory genes induced by signaling complex I include iNOS, prostaglandins, leucotrienes, metalloproteinases, adhesion molecules and cytokines, to name a few [38]. Thus TNF can induce vasodilation through iNOS generated nitric oxide (NO) and cyclooxygenase 2 (COX-2) generated prostanoids, which contributes to its ability to increase local inflammation, but also to its ability to induce multiple organ failure during sepsis [48,49].

On the other hand, if NF- $\kappa$ B activation fails, Fas-associated death domain protein (FADD) and procaspase 8 can associate with signaling complex I to form signaling complex II, which drives apoptosis via effector caspases-3,-6 and -7 [50,51]. Depending on the cell type involved, caspase-8 can also induce the intrinsic apoptotic pathway, resulting in the release of cytochrome c from mitochondria and the formation of an apoptosome, resulting in amplification of the process by caspase-9 [38]. Though TNFR2 lacks a DD, TNFR2 can also induce cell death under some circumstances [52]. However, TNFR signaling remains incompletely understood.

TNF is also a potent stimulator of neutrophil respiratory bursts, which are characterized by the production of bactericidal ROS [38].

ROS are produced by the NADPH oxidases (NOX), which are enzymes that transfer electrons across cell membranes to reduce oxygen to superoxide. NOX2 or gp91<sup>phox</sup> is the NOX enzyme expressed exclusively in professional phagocytes, and a further 6 homologues, NOX1, NOX3, NOX4, NOX5, DUOX1 and DUOX2, also exist and are expressed in a variety of cell types [53]. As a group, the NOX2 homologues are referred to as the NOX family of NADPH oxidases, and are found in almost all tissues [53]. It is now recognized that the NOX family of NADPH oxidases generate ROS that are required for many reversible regulatory processes essential to cellular function [53].

NOX2 is required for the generation of ROS in phagocytic cells, and can contribute to the killing of bacteria and other microorganisms. ROS are oxygen-derived small molecules, including oxygen radicals (superoxide  $(O_2^{-})$ , hydroxyl ('OH), peroxyl (RO<sub>2</sub>') and alkoxyl (RO')) and certain nonradicals such as hypochlorous acid (HOCl), ozone (O<sub>3</sub>), singlet oxygen (<sup>1</sup>O<sub>2</sub>) and hydrogen peroxide (H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub>) [53]. These molecules derive their bactericidal properties from the fact that they will readily react with a large number of molecules, including proteins, lipids, carbohydrates and nucleic acids, in the course of which they can irreversibly destroy these molecules [53]. It is therefore perhaps not surprising that ROS have been shown to be essential for the immune defense against a variety of microorganisms, including intracellular bacteria such as *Francisella tularensis* [54,55].

#### Legionella pneumophila in the environment and lung infection

*L. pneumophila* is a Gram-negative motile bacterium with global distribution found preferentially in both natural and manmade freshwater environments, where it replicates intracellularly mainly in bacterivorous amoebae such as *Acanthamoeba castellanii* [56-58]. However, *L. pneumophila* is an accomplished generalist and is able to grow in a large number of amoebae and other protozoa, as well as persist in biofilms [59,60]. A recent report has documented that *L. pneumophila* can also establish infection in the intestinal and gonadal tissue of the free-living soil nematode *Caenorhabditis elegans*, potentially establishing a vast alternative environmental reservoir for *L. pneumophila* [61]. In addition, the productive

infection of *C. elegans* by *L. pneumophila* signifies that the bacterium has had evolutionary exposure to at least one multicellular organism, albeit a primitive one.

In order to establish infection in its normally bactericidal host cells, *L. pneumophila* relies on a type IV secretion system (T4SS) to inject over 300 effector proteins into the host cell, reprograming it to support its intracellular replication [62,63]. These effectors block phagosomal maturation and fusion with lysosomes which would result in *L. pneumophila* degradation, and promote the establishment of a *Legionella* containing vacuole (LCV), the intracellular niche in which *L. pneumophila* replicates [64-67].

Using this versatile molecular toolbox, *L. pneumophila* can also replicate in human macrophages [68]. Thus *L. pneumophila* commonly causes community acquired and nosocomial pneumonia, and though normally controlled by the innate immune response, has the potential to cause a severe pneumonia known as Legionnaires' disease with mortality rates of up to 30% if early bacterial replication is not controlled [69-71]. However, human-to-human disease transmission is not observed, and infection is instead contracted by inhaling *L. pneumophila* contaminated water vapor, mostly generated by manmade technologies such as cooling towers, air conditioners or even car windshield wipers [62,72,73]. In the lung, *L. pneumophila* initially exclusively infects alveolar macrophages (AM), paradoxically replicating in the very cells designed to be the first line of defense against bacterial infections in the lung [62,74,75]. This ability makes *L. pneumophila* a clinically relevant human pathogen.

Of the more than 300 experimentally validated T4SS effectors, only 50 have thus far been attributed cellular functions, and in most cases the impact of these on *L. pneumophila*'s life cycle is not fully understood [76]. Their combined effects are vastly complex, manipulating *L. pneumophila*'s uptake, LCV and vesicle trafficking, retrograde trafficking, autophagy, ubiquitination, transcription and mitochondria, to name a few effects [76]. The reductionist approach employed by scientists to dissect the role of individual T4SS effectors is further hampered by the fact that many have redundant roles, and the ablation of a single effector seldom influences *L. pneumophila*'s ability to replicate intracellularly due to functional compensation by other effectors, a fact which probably reflects *L. pneumophila*'s ability to infect an impressive diversity of host cells [77]. What is clear however is that the effectors precisely regulate key host factors and associated pathways both spatially and temporally, in order to achieve an equilibrium which is favorable to bacterial replication.

A repercussion of this complex regulation is that effectors can have seemingly opposing and counterintuitive effects, which only make sense when the timing of expression is taken into account. For example, the small GTPase Rab1, which is recruited to the LCV and is a pivotal regulator of endoplasmic reticulum (ER)-Golgi secretory trafficking, is targeted by at least six T4SS effectors, some of which activate it, and some of which inactivate it [76]. The effector SidM is a Rab1 guanine nucleotide exchange factor (GEF) and can thus activate Rab1, while the effector LepB is a Rab1 GTPase activating protein (GAP), which can switch Rab1 back into its inactive state [78,79]. Further, SidM can covalently attach adenosine monophosphate (AMP) to Rab1, which prolongs its activation by preventing access by GAPs such as LepB, while yet another effector, SidD acts as an AMP-Rab1 deAMPylase, thus having the potential to reverse this chemical modification of Rab1 by SidM [80]. Similarly, the effectors AnkX, Lem3 and LidA can also influence the activation state of Rab1. By controlling the expression of these T4SS effector molecules, *L. pneumophila* can precisely manipulate a key component of the ER-Golgi secretory trafficking pathway to its advantage [76].

As another example, vacuolar acidification is differentially regulated by *L. pneumophila* effectors. The early expression of the effector SidK, which binds to the VatA subunit of the vacuolar H<sup>+</sup>-ATPase (v-ATPase), inhibits the early acidification of the LCV [81]. Neutral pH in the LCV until around 6 hours p.i. appears to be crucial for the *L. pneumophila* life cycle [68], however, towards the end of *L. pneumophila*'s replication cycle, LCV acidification is required for optimal intracellular growth [82]. Of note however, SidK appears to be yet another example of functional redundancy among *L. pneumophila* effectors, as it's deletion does not result in a defect in intracellular growth in either BMDM or *D. discoideum* [81].

As a final example of how *L. pneumophila* can push a biological pathway in opposing directions, *L. pneumophila* employs multiple T4SS effector-mediated mechanisms that promote cell survival, but also several others that promote cell death. At least 7 *L. pneumophila* T4SS effectors inhibit host cell translation, having the net effect of promoting NF- $\kappa$ B activation, as I $\kappa$ B is degraded more quickly than NF- $\kappa$ B when translation is blocked [83-85]. Pharmacological inhibition of protein synthesis in the presence of TLR ligands also results in NF- $\kappa$ B activation, demonstrating that this mechanism does not require other bacterial factors [83]. However, other *L. pneumophila* effectors also prevent cell death, such as SidF which neutralizes the proapoptotic factors BNIP3 and Bcl-rambo [86], and LegK1 which directly phosphorylates I $\kappa$ B [87]. Preventing cell death is a logical goal shared by various intracellular pathogens, in order to prevent the destruction of their replication niche [88]. On the other hand,

*L. pneumophila* also possesses various effectors which have the less intuitive function of promoting cell death. For instance VipD and PlcC destabilize membranes, including those of mitochondria, resulting in the release of cytochrome c into the cytosol, and the subsequent activation of caspase-3 and the induction of apoptosis [89,90]. It is thought that this stimulation of apoptosis by *L. pneumophila* might aide in the release of bacteria from the LCV at the end of the replication cycle [76]. Alternatively, activated caspases might participate in the biogenesis of the LCV independently of their ability to induce apoptosis [88]. In summary, in order to replicate *L. pneumophila* must successfully manipulate key pathways such as lysosomal acidification, cell survival and vesicular trafficking.

As a species, L. pneumophila encounters extremely varied conditions as it moves through various environments. Although L. pneumophila alternates between a replicative form and a stationary phase form under laboratory culture conditions, it is now established that L. pneumophila differentiates along a complex developmental network involving as many as 14 distinct developmental forms [91,92]. Differentiation into the various forms is triggered by environmental and metabolic cues, and allows L. pneumophila to adapt to highly disparate conditions [92]. For instance, L. pneumophila exists as a free-swimming planktonic form, which is transmissive and resistant to multiple environmental stresses such as nutrient starvation [93], and as a replicative form able to replicate intracellularly in LCVs, even as they mature into acidic lysosomal vacuoles in some cell types [81]. Following this exponential replication phase, L. pneumophila can differentiate back into a transmissive state, and even further into a cyst form termed MIF (mature infectious from) during late stages of infection, which has a low metabolic rate, is highly infectious and resistant to environmental stresses [91,92,94]. Interestingly, in contrast to L. pneumophila replicating in amoeba, L. pneumophila replicating in human macrophages do not fully differentiate into MIFs, and are less infectious as well as less resistant to environmental stresses, and it has been suggested that this might explain why human to human transmission of *L. pneumophila* pneumonia is not observed [95].

#### The immune response to L. pneumophila

Though critical for *L. pneumophila* replication, the T4SS also potently induces the innate immune response by several mechanisms [96]. As mentioned in the previous section, the inhibition of translation by *L. pneumophila* effectors may be beneficial for the bacterium by enhancing host cell survival. However, it also triggers a stress response which potently induces the immune response, by activating mitogen-activated protein (MAP) kinases and inducing the

release of inflammatory mediators [83-85]. AM thus sense the action of the T4SS and respond with the caspase-11-dependent flagellin-independent secretion of IL-1 $\alpha$  [97], inducing the secretion of chemokines by airway epithelial cells (AECs), resulting in the rapid recruitment of neutrophils and monocytes to the lung [74,85,98]. Neutrophils are known to be critical for the clearance of *L. pneumophila* lung infection, as evidenced by neutrophil depletion studies [98-100], *in vivo* blockade of CXCR2 [101] and studies examining the role of IL1R signaling [85,98,102]. However, the mechanisms by which neutrophils contribute to the resolution of *L. pneumophila* lung infection remain incompletely understood.

IL-1 is closely linked to the induction of TNF in a broad spectrum of unrelated models of inflammation, and these cytokines are known to have synergistic effects *in vivo* [103-105]. Indeed, anti-TNF therapy is a recognized risk factor for Legionnaire's disease, suggesting that TNF has an important role in the immune response to *L. pneumophila* [106-110]. Previous work has established that TNF is produced in response to *L. pneumophila* in a T4SS-dependent and flagellin-independent manner [83,111] and can limit replication in macrophages [112,113]. Furthermore, it was shown that TNF contributes to immune defense against *L. pneumophila in vivo* [114]. However, the mechanisms by which TNF contributes to innate immune control of *L. pneumophila* and the cells upon which it acts *in vivo* have yet to be elucidated.

In an intravenous (i.v.) mouse infection model examining the innate immune response to *L. pneumophila*, it was shown that IFN $\gamma$  was the central cytokine required to control bacterial infection, while TNFR1 and IL-1R were dispensable [115]. It was shown that MyD88-dependent NK-derived IFN $\gamma$ , which has a reciprocal dependency on DC derived IL-12, was required to control i.v. *L. pneumophila* infection [115]. Further, it was shown that while neutrophils in this model did not produce TNF, they were required to produce IL-18, which activated NK cells via MyD88-dependent signaling, and this was required for them to produce IFN $\gamma$  [100]. However, to what extent these mechanisms participate in the innate immune response to *L. pneumophila* lung infection was not investigated.

Macrophages from C57BL/6 mice are not permissive to *L. pneumophila* replication due to the intracellular sensor NAIP5 which binds cytosolic flagellin and recruits NLRC4, resulting in inflammasome assembly and the activation of Caspase-1 [28,116,117]. Active caspase-1 can initiate a pro-inflammatory form of cell death known as pyroptosis, the secretion of IL-1 $\beta$  and IL-18, as well as activating Caspase-7, which induces the fusion of lysosomes with the LCV, resulting in bacterial degradation [33,118]. Murine macrophages missing key components in

this pathway are permissive to *L. pneumophila* replication, including NAIP5<sup>-/-</sup>, NLRC4<sup>-/-</sup>, Caspase-1<sup>-/-</sup> and Caspase-7<sup>-/-</sup> macrophages [33]. Though human NAIP, the orthologue of NAIP5, can mediate inflammasome assembly and *L. pneumophila* restriction when overexpressed in murine macrophages, *L. pneumophila* does not induce Caspase-1 and Caspase-7 activation in human macrophages, which support *L. pneumophila* replication [33,34]. In addition, Caspase-11 has also been shown to restrict *L. pneumophila* growth by promoting lysosomal fusion with the LCVs, though this appears to be redundant in BMDM [67,117].

A/J mice are permissive to *L. pneumophila* replication due to mutations in the NAIP5 gene, resulting in 14 amino acid (a.a.) differences as compared to C57BL/6 mice [119,120]. A/J mice are able to activate caspase-1 in response to *L. pneumophila* infection [121], but fail to activate caspase-7, suggesting that the 14 a.a. are somehow involved in caspase-1 and caspase-7 interactions [33,116]. Other mouse strains also display partial susceptibility to *L. pneumophila* infection, including FvB/N, C3H/HeJ, BALB/c/J and 129S1 mice [119]. Interestingly, in each case this susceptibility was shown to be attributable to mutations in NAIP5, and 6 of the 14 a.a. missense mutations present in A/J mouse NAIP5 (NAIP5<sup>A/J</sup>) are shared by all the permissive strains [119]. None of these mutations occur in the recently defined NAIP5 ligand specificity domain, supporting the hypothesis that these mutations do not impact flagellin binding by NAIP5 but might promote interactions between caspase-1 and caspase-7 [28]. In this thesis we make use of mice with the 129S1 NAIP5 allele (NAIP5<sup>129S1</sup>) that have a targeted TNF deletion in macrophages, monocytes and neutrophils (MN-TNF NAIP5<sup>129S1</sup> mice) [122] to examine the role of TNF derived from macrophages, monocytes and neutrophils (MN-TNF NAIP5<sup>129S1</sup> mice) [122] to examine the role of TNF derived from macrophages, monocytes and neutrophils (MN-TNF NAIP5<sup>129S1</sup> mice) [122] to examine the role of TNF derived from macrophages, monocytes and neutrophils in *L. pneumophila* lung infection in the absence of strong NAIP5 signaling.

In the case of re-challenge with *L. pneumophila*, the adaptive immune response is known to contribute to the clearance of *L. pneumophila* lung infection. *L. pneumophila* lung infection induces the differentiation of Th1/Th17 effector CD4 T cells which home to the lung [123]. In addition, *L. pneumophila*-specific antibodies can protect against *L. pneumophila* airway infection by engaging Fc receptors, resulting in signal transduction that renders host cells non-permissive to infection and targets the bacteria to lysosomes [124]. Though it was shown that all the IgG subclasses could be protective at high doses, IgG2c and IgG3 were found to be the most prevalent in immunized mice and correlated with reduced bacterial loads in the lung [125]. Of these subclasses, IgG2c proved the most effective at limiting concentrations when administered prophylactically [125].

#### Aims of the thesis

In this thesis, we investigated the protective role of innate immune factors that have been implicated in the innate immune response during *L. pneumophila* lung infection. We demonstrate that TNF and reactive oxygen species (ROS) are essential for the effective innate immune control of *L. pneumophila* lung infection, and that *in vivo* TNF can compensate for the well characterized NLRC4-NAIP5 flagellin pathway. While ROS are essential for the bactericidal activity of neutrophils, TNF produced by neutrophils and monocytes is required to enhance alveolar macrophage (AM) mediated restriction of *L. pneumophila* via TNFR1 *in vivo*. This TNF mediated antibacterial mechanism is independent of NLRC4 and involves cathepsin B as well as the fusion of LCVs with lysosomes and their acidification. Given the poor NAIP activation in response to *L. pneumophila* lung infection suggests that TNF could be a key component of innate immunity to *L. pneumophila* lung infection in humans.

#### Results

#### TNF and ROS are important for clearance of L. pneumophila in vivo

Many host immune factors have been shown to be involved in *L. pneumophila* control *in vitro*, whereas relatively few studies have assessed their impact in vivo. We therefore used an intranasal mouse infection model to identify crucial innate immune effector molecules and pathways that have been implicated in the clearance of L. pneumophila lung infection, by assessing their relative impact on bacterial burden in the lung 5 days p.i.. As shown previously, NLRC4<sup>-/-</sup> mice were moderately susceptible to infection, despite the well-recognized role of NLRC4 in inflammasome activation in response to L. pneumophila flagellin, and the high susceptibility of NLRC4<sup>-/-</sup> macrophages to L. pneumophila replication in vitro (Figs. 1A and 6B, [126,127]. However, TNF deficiency and ROS deficiency (CYBB<sup>-/-</sup> mice) resulted in a comparable or even more potent impairment in bacterial control in the BALF 5 days p.i. than did NLRC4 deficiency (Fig. 1A). Interestingly, MN-TNF NAIP5<sup>129S1</sup> mice, which have a hypofunctional NAIP5 allele and are deficient in TNF in macrophages, monocytes and neutrophils, had a much higher bacterial load than both TNF<sup>-/-</sup> and NLRC4<sup>-/-</sup> mice, suggesting that these pathways can compensate for each other in vivo. In contrast, IFNy, IL-12, iNOS, caspase-1/11, IL-17 and TLR5 seem to play a less dominant role in controlling L. pneumophila infection. These results indicate that TNF and ROS are key effectors for the innate immune defense against L. pneumophila lung infection, and that TNF from macrophages, monocytes or neutrophils can partially compensate for the NLRC4 pathway.



**Figure 1. TNF / TNFR1 and ROS are important for clearance of** *L. pneumophila in vivo*. (A-B) WT or knockout mice were infected intranasally with WT *L. pneumophila*, and 5 days p.i. BALF CFU were quantified on CYE agar plates. Data are from 15 and 8 pooled experiments. \*p<0.05, \*\*p<0.01, \*\*\*p<0.001, \*\*\*\*p<0.0001 compared to WT by Kruskal-Wallis test with Dunn's post test.

#### MN-TNF NAIP5<sup>129S1</sup> mice have a hypofunctional NAIP5 allele

In the experiments described above, we originally attributed the phenotype of MN-TNF NAIP5<sup>129S1</sup> mice solely to the absence of TNF in macrophages, monocytes and neutrophils, as we were not aware of the fact that these mice did not have the C57BL/6 NAIP5 allele. We were surprised to observe that TNF<sup>-/-</sup> mice had roughly ten fold less CFU in the BALF than MN-TNF NAIP5<sup>129S1</sup> mice 5 days p.i. (Fig. 1A), which led us to suspect that MN-TNF NAIP5<sup>129S1</sup> mice background compared with C57BL/6 mice. We were aware of the fact that cre interrupted exon 1 of lysozyme M, and that homozygous MN-TNF NAIP5<sup>129S1</sup> mice were therefore lysozyme M deficient. However, infection of Lysozyme M<sup>-/-</sup> mice with WT *L. pneumophila* showed that these mice were not more susceptible than WT mice, ruling out a non-redundant role for Lysozyme M (Fig. 2C). Nevertheless, to rule out interactions between TNF and lysozyme M, and to determine if the genetic background of MN-TNF NAIP5<sup>129S1</sup> mice differed from that of C57BL/6 mice in genes other than TNF and lysozyme M, we backcrossed them with C57BL/6 mice. We intercrossed the F1 generation to yield F2 progeny with all combinations of either floxed TNF, WT TNF, cre and/or lysozyme M. We found that there were large variations in the bacterial loads in the BALF 5 days p.i. that

could not be explained by either TNF or lysozyme M (Fig. 2A). Further, while TNF<sup>-/-</sup> BMDM only supported minimal *L. pneumophila* growth (Fig. 2B), MN-TNF NAIP5<sup>129S1</sup> BMDM supported substantial *L. pneumophila* growth, and neither TNF nor lysozyme M expression could completely predict permissiveness to *L. pneumophila* infection in the BMDM of the F2 offspring (Fig. 2B). Taken together with the observation that susceptibility *in vivo* predicted individual permissiveness of BMDM *in vitro*, these data showed that genetic factors that were neither TNF nor lysozyme M contributed to susceptibility to *L. pneumophila* in MN-TNF NAIP5<sup>129S1</sup> mice (Fig.2A and B).



**Figure 2. MN-TNF mice appear to differ from C57Bl/6 mice in an undefined gene(s), that are neither TNF nor Lysozyme M. (A)** MN-TNF NAIP5<sup>129S1</sup> mice were crossed with WT, and the F1 were intercrossed to yield F2 progeny with floxed Tnf (floxTNF), WT Tnf (TNF<sup>+/+</sup>)

and either one or two copies of cre. WT, TNF<sup>-/-</sup>, MN-TNF NAIP5<sup>129S1</sup> and F2 mice were infected intranasally with WT *L. pneumophila*, and 5 days p.i. BALF CFU were quantified on CYE agar plates. Data are from two pooled experiments. (**B**) BMDM were generated from the mice in A, and infected with WT *L. pneumophila* at MOI 0.1. Three days p.i. BMDM were lysed and CFU were quantified on CYE agar plates. Data are representative of two independent experiments. (**C**) WT or LysM<sup>-/-</sup> mice were infected intranasally with WT *L. pneumophila*, and 5 days p.i. BALF CFU were quantified on CYE agar plates. Data are from one experiment.

The observation that TNFR1/2<sup>-/-</sup> BMDM were only mildly susceptible to *L. pneumophila* infection, while MN-TNF NAIP5<sup>129S1</sup> mice were almost as susceptible as NLRC4<sup>-/-</sup> BMDM led me to suspect that MN-TNF NAIP5<sup>129S1</sup> mice might be defective in either NLRC4 or NAIP5 (Fig. 6A and B). MN-TNF NAIP5<sup>129S1</sup> mice were generated using embryonic stem cells from 129S1 mice [122]. 129S1 mice are reported to have mutations in NAIP5 (NAIP5<sup>129S1</sup>), some of which overlap with those in A/J mouse NAIP5 (table 3 in [119]), and BMDM from 129S1 mice have been shown to be permissive to *L. pneumophila* due to NAIP5<sup>129S1</sup> [119]. Sequencing of MN-TNF NAIP5<sup>129S1</sup> mouse NAIP5 confirmed that these mice have the same mutations in NAIP5 as 129S1 mice with the exception of exon 15. We therefore concluded that in addition to ablation of TNF in macrophages, monocytes and neutrophils, MN-TNF NAIP5<sup>129S1</sup> allele.

#### TNF acts via TNFR1 to control L. pneumophila infection

To identify the receptor through which TNF exerts its protective effect, WT, TNF<sup>-/-</sup>, TNFR1<sup>-/-</sup>, TNFR2<sup>-/-</sup> and TNFR1/2<sup>-/-</sup> mice were infected intranasally with WT *L. pneumophila* and CFUs were compared in BALF 5 days p.i.. Bacterial clearance was delayed to a similar extent in TNF<sup>-/-</sup>, TNFR1<sup>-/-</sup> and TNFR1/2<sup>-/-</sup> mice compared to WT, but not in TNFR2<sup>-/-</sup> mice, showing that TNF mediates its anti-bacterial effect via TNFR1 *in vivo* (Fig. 1B).

## TNF / TNFR1 signaling contributes to AM but not neutrophil-mediated killing of *L*. *pneumophila in vivo*

A recent study using a T4SS-based reporter system has demonstrated that AM and neutrophils are the primary targets for *L. pneumophila in vivo*, with *L. pneumophila* replication having been demonstrated in AM [74]. We therefore examined the impact of TNF on AM and neutrophil mediated killing of *L. pneumophila in vivo*. To normalize bacterial burden in WT and TNFR1<sup>-/-</sup> mice and to compare AM and neutrophil bacterial loads in WT and TNFR1<sup>-/-</sup> cells in the same mouse, we used a mixed chimera approach in which 50% of hematopoietic cells were of WT

or TNFR1<sup>-/-</sup> origin. Mixed bone marrow (BM) chimeric mice were generated with a mix of 50% Ly5.1<sup>+</sup> WT BM and 50% WT Ly5.2<sup>+</sup> or Ly5.2<sup>+</sup> TNFR1<sup>-/-</sup> BM. After 8 weeks of reconstitution, WT:WT and WT:TNFR1<sup>-/-</sup> mice were inoculated intranasally with WT *L. pneumophila*, and 2 days p.i. Ly5.1<sup>+</sup> and Ly5.2<sup>+</sup> AM and neutrophils were sorted from the BALF, and cells were plated on CYE plates to quantify viable *L. pneumophila*. Significantly more CFU / AM were recovered from TNFR1<sup>-/-</sup> AM than from WT AM, indicating that TNF signaling via TNFR1 promotes the killing of *L. pneumophila* by AM *in vivo* (Fig. 3A). In contrast, there was no difference in the number of viable *L. pneumophila* / neutrophil recovered from WT vs. TNFR1<sup>-/-</sup> neutrophils, indicating that TNF signaling does not contribute to neutrophil mediated killing of *L. pneumophila* (Fig. 3A). The killing of *L. pneumophila* lacking flagellin was also impaired in TNFR1<sup>-/-</sup> AM compared to WT AM, demonstrating that the antibacterial mechanism mediated in AM by TNF / TNFR1 is independent of the NAIP5-NLRC4 flagellin recognition pathway (Fig. 3B). These results highlight that TNF / TNFR1 signaling mediates a non-redundant antibacterial mechanism that contributes to *L. pneumophila* killing in AM but not in neutrophils *in vivo*.



Figure 3. TNF / TNFR1 signaling contributes to AM-mediated killing of *L. pneumophila*, while ROS are required for efficient neutrophil-mediated killing of *L. pneumophila in vivo*. (A-C) Mixed BM chimeric mice reconstituted with 50% Ly5.1<sup>+</sup> WT BM, and either 50% Ly5.2<sup>+</sup> WT, TNFR1<sup>-/-</sup> or CYBB<sup>-/-</sup> BM were generated. (A) Chimeras were infected with WT *L. pneumophila*, and 2 days p.i. BALF was harvested and Ly5.1<sup>+</sup> and Ly5.2<sup>+</sup> AM and neutrophils were sorted. Cells were lysed and CFU were quantified on CYE agar plates. (B) Chimeras were infected with WT or  $\Delta$ FlaA *L. pneumophila*, and CFU were quantified in AM as in B). (C) Chimeras were infected with *L. pneumophila*-GFP or *L. pneumophila*-GFPind (with IPTG induction) and BALF was analyzed by flow cytometry 38 hr p.i.. GFP<sup>+</sup> neutrophils were normalized for the number of Ly5.1<sup>+</sup> and Ly5.2<sup>+</sup> neutrophils, respectively. Data are from 2-4 pooled experiments. \*p<0.05, \*\*p<0.01, \*\*\*p<0.001 by Wilcoxon test.

### **ROS** are required for efficient neutrophil but not AM-mediated killing of *L. pneumophila in vivo*

To analyze the impact of ROS on AM and neutrophil mediated killing of *L. pneumophila*, we generated BM chimeric mice with a mix of 50% Ly5.1<sup>+</sup> WT BM and 50% WT Ly5.2<sup>+</sup> or Ly5.2<sup>+</sup> CYBB<sup>-/-</sup> BM. 2 days p.i. we observed that while sorted CYBB<sup>-/-</sup> AM did not contain more viable *L. pneumophila* / AM than WT AM, sorted CYBB<sup>-/-</sup> neutrophils contained more viable *L. pneumophila* / neutrophil than did WT neutrophils from the same mouse (Fig. 3A). This indicates that in contrast to TNF, ROS plays a non-redundant role in neutrophil-mediated killing of *L. pneumophila* but not AM-mediated killing of *L. pneumophila in vivo*.

We performed similar experiments in which WT:WT and WT:CYBB<sup>-/-</sup> BM chimeric mice were inoculated with either *L. pneumophila* constitutively expressing GFP (*L. pneumophila*-GFP), or with *L. pneumophila* containing a plasmid on which GFP expression can be induced by the addition of IPTG (*L. pneumophila*-GFPind), thereby identifying metabolically active bacteria (Fig. 3C). Neutrophils were analyzed by flow cytometry 38 hours p.i., and in the case of *L. pneumophila*-GFPind infected mice, IPTG was administered intranasally at 35 hours p.i., resulting in the induction of GFP in all viable *L. pneumophila*. In line with the results of the BM chimera sort and plating experiments described above, there were more GFP<sup>+</sup> CYBB<sup>-/-</sup> neutrophils than GFP<sup>+</sup> WT neutrophils in WT:CYBB<sup>-/-</sup> BM chimeric mice, both with *L. pneumophila*-GFP infection and with *L. pneumophila*-GFPind infection (Fig. 3C). In the case of *L. pneumophila*-GFP infection this indicates that there were more ROS-deficient neutrophils that contained dead or viable *L. pneumophila* than WT neutrophils, and in the case of *L. pneumophila*-GFPind infection it indicates that there were more ROS-deficient neutrophils that contained viable *L. pneumophila* than WT neutrophils in the same mouse. These data support the hypothesis that neutrophils require ROS to kill and degrade *L. pneumophila in vivo*.

#### In vivo, neutrophils but not AM produce ROS in response to L. pneumophila infection

Having established that ROS-dependent mechanisms are involved in neutrophil mediated killing of *L. pneumophila*, we sought to determine if neutrophils actively produce ROS in response to *L. pneumophila*. We infected WT and CYBB<sup>-/-</sup> mice with WT, T4SS deficient ( $\Delta$ T) and  $\Delta$ FlaA *L. pneumophila* and stained neutrophils and AM with a flow cytometry based ROS detection reagent (Dihydroethidium) 24 h p.i.. We observed that neutrophils but not AM produced ROS in response to WT and  $\Delta$ FlaA *L. pneumophila* 24 h p.i., suggesting that ROS could have direct bactericidal effects in *L. pneumophila* containing neutrophils (Fig. 4A). Since

we did not observe neutrophil ROS production in response to  $\Delta T L$ . *pneumophila*, our results suggest this ROS production is T4SS-dependent and flagellin independent. Conversely, AM produced ROS only in response to  $\Delta T$  infection, in line with a publication suggesting that *L*. *pneumophila* actively inhibits ROS production in macrophages via T4SS-dependent effector molecules [128].



Figure 4. In vivo, neutrophils but not AM produce ROS and TNF in response to L. pneumophila infection. (A) WT and CYBB<sup>-/-</sup> mice were infected intranasally with WT,  $\Delta$ T or  $\Delta$ FlaA L. pneumophila and BALF cells were harvested 24 hr p.i.. AM, neutrophils and monocytes were stained for ROS with Dihydroethidium (DHE) and analyzed by flow cytometry. (B) WT and TNF<sup>-/-</sup> mice were infected intranasally with WT,  $\Delta$ T or  $\Delta$ FlaA L.

*pneumophila* and BALF cells were harvested 30 hr p.i.. AM, neutrophils and monocytes were stained for TNF and analyzed by flow cytometry. Data are from 2-3 pooled experiments. \*p<0.05, \*\*p<0.01, \*\*\*p<0.001, \*\*\*p<0.001 compared to CYBB<sup>-/-</sup> or TNF<sup>-/-</sup> mice by Kruskal-Wallis test with Dunn's post test.

# The extent to which ROS-deficient neutrophils contribute to *L. pneumophila* clearance *in vivo* remains inconclusive following neutrophil depletion experiments

To verify if ROS but not TNF are required for the contribution of neutrophils to the control L. pneumophila infection in vivo, we infected WT, TNF<sup>-/-</sup> and CYBB<sup>-/-</sup> mice, with or without depletion of neutrophils using three different approaches, and quantified CFU in the BALF 3 days p.i. (Fig. 5A-C). Neutrophils were depleted by injecting either 500  $\mu$ g  $\alpha$ -Ly6G (clone 1A8) i.p. on day -1 and day 1, or by injecting 250 µg α-Ly6G (clone 1A8) i.p. on day -1, and 10 μg α-G-CSF i.p. on day -1, 0, 1 and 2, of finally by injecting 100 μg α-Gr-1 (clone NIMP-R14) i.p. on day -1, 0, 1 and 2. As expected, but with a relatively large margin of error, neutrophil depletion in WT mice resulted in delayed clearance of L. pneumophila in the BALF compared to undepleted WT mice, confirming that neutrophils are important for the clearance of L. pneumophila from the lung (Fig. 5A-C). However, the results in the other groups varied with the different neutrophil depletion protocols. α-Ly6G depletion of neutrophils in CYBB<sup>-/-</sup> mice did not increase bacterial loads compared to undepleted CYBB<sup>-/-</sup> mice, suggesting that the contribution of neutrophils to immune defense in the context of L. pneumophila lung infection is mainly ROS-dependent up to and including 3 days p.i. (Fig. 5A). However, this interpretation is hampered by the fact that neutrophils may have been coated with α-Ly6G without actually having been depleted, since a large population of Ly6C-intermediate, MPO<sup>+</sup>, CD11b<sup>+</sup> cells remained (data not shown). It is unclear if these are neutrophils, or perhaps a compensatory monocyte population. α-Ly6G depletion of neutrophils in TNF<sup>-/-</sup> and MN-TNF NAIP5<sup>129S1</sup> mice tended to increased bacterial titers, indicating that neutrophils have a TNFindependent, or partially TNF-independent role in bacterial clearance. Again this interpretation is hampered by the possibility that neutrophils are not actually depleted.



**Figure 5. Neutrophil depletion experiments.** (**A-C**) WT, MN-TNF NAIP5<sup>129S1</sup>, TNF<sup>-/-</sup> or CYBB<sup>-/-</sup> mice were infected intranasally with WT *L. pneumophila*, and neutrophils were depleted using various protocols. 3 days p.i. BALF CFU were quantified on CYE agar plates. (**A**) 500µg  $\alpha$ -Ly6G (clone 1A8) was administered i.p. day -1 and day 1. Data from 3 pooled experiments. (**B**) 100µg  $\alpha$ -Gr-1 (clone NIMP-R14) was administered i.p. day -1, 0, 1 and 2. Data from 1 experiment. (**C**) 250µg  $\alpha$ -Ly6G (clone 1A8) was administered i.p. day -1, and 10µg  $\alpha$ -G-CSF was administered i.p. day -1, 0, 1 and 2. Data from 1 experiment. \*\*p<0.01 by Mann-Whitney test.

Neutrophil depletion using  $\alpha$ -Ly6G and  $\alpha$ -G-CSF to prevent egress of neutrophils from the BM resulted in a more robust phenotype in WT mice, and also did not further increase bacterial burden in the lungs of CYBB<sup>-/-</sup> mice (Fig. 5C). However, the Ly6C-intermediate, CD11b<sup>+</sup> population was again present in depleted mice, and further, G-CSF is known to be required for AM effector functions [129]. It is therefore not possible to distinguish between possible residual neutrophil activity, impaired AM function or ROS deficiency in neutrophils. Neutrophil depletion using  $\alpha$ -Ly6G and  $\alpha$ -G-CSF in MN-TNF NAIP5<sup>129S1</sup> mice did not further increase bacterial burden in the BALF, suggesting that neutrophils have a TNF-dependent role in these mice (Fig. 5C) or that a further increase of bacterial titers was not achievable by

neutrophil depletion in these mice, as bacterial titers might already have reached a maximum titer in the absence of TNF and NAIP5 signaling.

Neutrophil depletion using  $\alpha$ -Gr-1 lead to an increase in bacterial burden in CYBB<sup>-/-</sup> mice compared to undepleted CYBB<sup>-/-</sup> mice, suggesting neutrophils could have a ROS-independent role in the clearance of *L. pneumophila* lung infection. However, also with this neutrophil depletion protocol, a Ly6C-intermediate, MPO<sup>+</sup>, CD11b<sup>+</sup> population remained. Also, given that  $\alpha$ -Gr-1 has the potential to deplete Ly6C expressing cells, it cannot be ruled out that off target populations such as monocytes could have been affected. However, on the whole the monocyte population was increased in the BALF of  $\alpha$ -Gr-1 treated mice, suggesting that a compensatory monocyte population is present, or that  $\alpha$ -Gr-1 is also able to mask the Ly6G epitope of neutrophils. Neutrophil depletion using  $\alpha$ -Gr-1 in MN-TNF NAIP5<sup>129S1</sup> mice increase bacterial burden in the BALF, suggesting that neutrophils have a TNF-independent or partially TNF-independent role in these mice, however with the factors listed above standing in the way of any certainty to this conclusion (Fig. 5B).

In summary, none of the neutrophil depletion protocols could be shown to have definitely depleted neutrophils, though their functionality does at least seem to have been partially impaired. A compensatory monocyte population may also infiltrate the BALF in response to neutrophil depletion.

### TNF mediates an anti-bacterial effect in macrophages via TNFR1, which is independent of NLRC4 and ROS

The *in vivo* results presented in Figure 3 in combination with the observation that *in vitro*, TNFR1<sup>-/-</sup> and TNFR1/2<sup>-/-</sup> but not TNFR2<sup>-/-</sup> BMDM were more permissive to *L. pneumophila* replication than WT BMDM, suggest that TNF directly inhibits *L. pneumophila* replication in macrophages via signaling through TNFR1 (Fig. 6A). Furthermore, the addition of recombinant TNF (rTNF) to BMDM abrogated growth of *L. pneumophila* in all of the genotypes with a functional TNFR1 gene, including NLRC4<sup>-/-</sup> and CYBB<sup>-/-</sup> BMDM. These data show that TNF mediates an antibacterial mechanism in BMDM via TNFR1, which is independent of ROS and the NAIP5-NLRC4 flagellin recognition pathway (Fig. 6A and B). Importantly, 3 day exposure to 100 ng/ml rTNF did not induce BMDM cell death, but instead even slightly enhanced their viability as measured by the Alamar blue assay (Fig. 7) and as observed under the microscope (data not shown), suggesting an active antibacterial mechanism mediated by TNF rather than the induction of cell death. Membrane TNF knock-in (memTNF

KI) BMDM, which are only able to make membrane bound but not secreted TNF, were also more susceptible than WT BMDM, suggesting that TNF signals as a soluble molecule on BMDM *in vitro* (Fig. 6A). To consolidate this observation, we added a neutralizing anti-TNF antibody or TNFR1 fused to the Fc portion of an antibody (TNFR1-Fc) to WT BMDM infected with *L. pneumophila*, in order to neutralize soluble TNF secreted by the BMDM. This resulted in the sensitization of WT BMDM to *L. pneumophila* infection to a similar level as that observed for TNFR1<sup>-/-</sup> BMDM, suggesting that the difference in susceptibility between WT and TNFR1<sup>-/-</sup> BMDM is due to endogenously secreted TNF in response to *L. pneumophila* infection (Fig. 6C). Also in line with the conclusion that lack of endogenous TNF results in moderate sensitivity of BMDM to *L. pneumophila* infection is the observation that MYD88<sup>-/-</sup> BMDM, which fail to secrete TNF in response to *L. pneumophila* infection ([130] and Fig. 8), also have a similar susceptibility to *L. pneumophila* as TNFR1<sup>-/-</sup> BMDM (Fig. 6A). Taken together, these data suggest that TNF activates an antibacterial mechanism in macrophages via TNFR1 that is independent of NLRC4 and ROS. Furthermore, TNF production by BMDM in response to *L. pneumophila* is downstream of MyD88.



Figure 6. TNF mediates an antibacterial effect in macrophages via TNFR1, which is independent of NLRC4 and ROS. (A-B) WT or knockout BMDM were infected with WT *L*.

*pneumophila* at MOI 0.1. BMDM were either left untreated (left hand panels) or rTNF was added at the time of infection (right hand pannels). 3 days p.i. BMDM were lysed and CFU were quantified on CYE agar plates. (C) WT BMDM were infected with WT *L. pneumophila* MOI 0.1, with or without the addition of TNFR1-Fc, anti-TNF Ab or anti-IL1 $\beta$  Ab. 3 days p.i. BMDM were lysed and CFU were quantified on CYE agar plates. Data are from 3-7 pooled experiments. \*p<0.05, \*\*p<0.01, \*\*\*p<0.001, \*\*\*\*p<0.0001 compared to WT by Kruskal-Wallis test with Dunn's post test.

Alamar blue viability assay



Figure 7. TNF increases the viability of BMDM. WT BMDM were seeded in 96 well plates at  $1 \times 10^5$  cells / well. After resting overnight, media was replaced with new media containing 20% L929 conditioned media containing M-CSF, with or without 100 ng/ml rTNF. After 3 days of incubation at 37°C, medium was replaced with 200 µl medium containing 20% L929 conditioned media and 10% alamar blue (Lucerna Chem AG, A1180), and incubated for 6.5 hr at 37°C. Conversion of alamar blue reagent by live cells was then measured with an ELISA plate reader and OD<sub>570</sub>-OD<sub>600</sub> was calculated. Results are from one experiment.



**Figure 8. BMDM secrete TNF in response to** *L. pneumophila* infection. This secretion is downstream of MyD88 and independent of NLRC4. (A-B) WT, MN-TNF NAIP5<sup>129S1</sup> or NLRC4<sup>-/-</sup> BMDM were infected with WT *L. pneumophila* at MOI 0.1 or left untreated. (A) 3 days p.i. supernatant was collected and TNF was quantified by cytometric bead array assay. (B) 27 and 48 hr p.i. supernatant was collected and TNF was quantified by cytometric bead array assay. Data are each from one experiment.

## Endogenous BMDM-derived TNF does not compensate for reduced NAIP5 signaling in BMDM *in vitro*.

Next, we sought to determine if endogenous TNF produced by macrophages in response to *L. pneumophila* infection can signal in a paracrine manner and compensate for reduced NAIP5-NLRC4 signaling. To test this we combined WT and MN-TNF NAIP5<sup>129S1</sup> BMDM in 96 well plates in various ratios, infected them with WT *L. pneumophila* at MOI 0.1 and quantified CFU on CYE agar plates 3 days p.i. (Fig. 9). As a control, we combined WT and NLRC4<sup>-/-</sup> BMDM, which are both TNF proficient. Given that the amount of CFU quantified in WT and MN-TNF NAIP5<sup>129S1</sup> BMDM closely matched the numbers calculated making the assumption that WT and MN-TNF NAIP5<sup>129S1</sup> BMDM in response to *L. pneumophila* infection is not enough to protect MN-TNF NAIP5<sup>129S1</sup> BMDM from *L. pneumophila* infection. Note that CFU counts are slightly lower than expected in the 80% WT groups, even in the WT:NLRC4<sup>-/-</sup> BMDM group, which is probably a reflection of the fact that WT cells start to act as *L. pneumophila* "sinks" that hamper subsequent rounds of infection when they are present in greater numbers than knockout cells (Fig. 9).



**Figure 9. Endogenous BMDM-derived TNF does not compensate for reduced NAIP5 signaling in BMDM** *in vitro*. WT and MN-TNF NAIP5<sup>129S1</sup> or NLRC4<sup>-/-</sup> BMDM were combined in 96 well plates in the indicated ratios and infected with WT *L. pneumophila* at MOI 0.1. Three days p.i. BMDM were lysed and CFU were quantified on CYE agar plates. The black numbers show the actual CFU counted, and the grey numbers show the CFU calculated making the assumption that WT and knockout cells do not interact. Data are representative of two independent experiments.

### *In vivo*, TNF produced by neutrophils and monocytes enhances AM-mediated killing of *L. pneumophila*, and can compensate for lack of NLRC4

The fact that NLRC4<sup>-/-</sup> BMDM are highly susceptible to *L. pneumophila* replication *in vitro*, but NLRC4<sup>-/-</sup> mice are only moderately susceptible *in vivo* suggests that mechanisms that are only present in vivo are able to compensate for a lack of NLRC4. To determine if paracrine TNF compensates for reduced NAIP5-NLRC4 mediated signaling in vivo, we infected MN-TNF NAIP5<sup>129S1</sup> mice, which have a hypofunctional NAIP5 allele and are deficient in TNF in macrophages, monocytes and neutrophils, with WT L. pneumophila. We found that MN-TNF NAIP5<sup>129S1</sup> mice were highly susceptible to *L. pneumophila* lung infection, with much greater bacterial burdens in the BALF 5 days p.i. compared to WT, TNF<sup>-/-</sup> and NLRC4<sup>-/-</sup> mice (Fig. 1A). This result suggests that TNF produced by macrophages, monocytes and/or neutrophils is essential for *in vivo* control of *L. pneumophila* lung infection. In order to further narrow down the *in vivo* source of TNF, we infected WT mice and TNF<sup>-/-</sup> mice with WT,  $\Delta T$  and  $\Delta FlaA L$ . pneumophila and stained BALF cells for TNF 30 h p.i. (Fig. 4B). We found that neutrophils and monocytes, but much less AM, produced TNF in response to L. pneumophila lung infection, suggesting that neutrophils and monocytes are the relevant TNF source. In addition, BMDM from MN-TNF NAIP5<sup>129S1</sup> mice were as susceptible to *L. pneumophila* replication as NLRC4<sup>-/-</sup> BMDM, and this susceptibility could be abrogated by the addition of rTNF (Fig. 6B). Taken together, these data suggest that neutrophil and monocyte derived TNF enhances AMmediated L. pneumophila killing and partially compensates for reduced NAIP5-NLRC4 signaling in AM in vivo.

## Caspases do not appear to play a role in TNF-mediated inhibition of *L. pneumophila* replication in BMDM

Given that caspase-1 can activate caspase-7 and induce the fusion of LCVs with lysosomes [33], and caspase-11 can also induce the fusion of LCVs with lysosomes [67], we wished to
determine if the antibacterial effect mediated by TNF is dependent on Caspase-1 or 11. We therefore infected caspase-1/11<sup>-/-</sup> BMDM with *L. pneumophila*, with or without the addition of rTNF, and CFU were quantified 3 days p.i. (Fig. 10). The addition of rTNF prevented bacterial replication in Caspase-1/11-/- BMDM, demonstrating that the TNF-mediated antibacterial mechanism in BMDM is independent of Caspase 1 and 11 (Fig. 10). To test if other caspases were involved, we infected caspase-1/11<sup>-/-</sup> BMDM with WT *L. pneumophila* in the presence of the pan-caspase inhibitor Z-VAD-FMK, with or without the addition of rTNF. As Z-VAD-FMK blocked the TNF-mediated effect, it seemed other caspases were involved (Fig. 10). Similar experiments with caspase 3 inhibitor Ac-DEVD-CHO, caspase 3/7 inhibitor Z-DEVD-FMK, caspase 8 inhibitor Z-IETD-FMK but not caspase 9 inhibitor Z-LEHD-FMK, all seemed to demonstrate slight inhibition of TNF-mediated inhibition of L. pneumophila replication (Fig. 10). However, it should be noted that in all cases the caspase inhibitors increased the susceptibility of caspase-1/11<sup>-/-</sup> BMDM to *L. pneumophila* infection (Fig. 10), which may then cause an apparent block of the TNF-mediated inhibition of *L. pneumophila* replication, when this could in fact be independent of TNF. Furthermore, Z-VAD-FMK as well as other caspase inhibitors associated with the FMK (fluoromethylketone) group have been shown to inhibit cathepsins [131], opening the possibility that cathepsins rather than caspases could be responsible for the observed effects. In summary, these experiments did not show that a particular caspase was required for the TNF-mediated inhibition of L. pneumophila replication in macrophages.



Figure 10. Caspases do not appear to play a role in TNF-mediated inhibition of *L. pneumophila* replication in BMDM. WT or Caspase- $1/11^{-/-}$  BMDM were infected with WT *L. pneumophila* at MOI 0.1. Where indicated rTNF and/or pan caspase inhibitor Z-VAD-FMK, caspase 3 inhibitor Ac-DEVD-CHO, caspase 3/7 inhibitor Z-DEVD-FMK, caspase 8 inhibitor Z-IETD-FMK or caspase 9 inhibitor Z-LEHD-FMK were added at the time of infection. 3 days p.i. BMDM were lysed and CFU were quantified on CYE agar plates. Data are from 2-3 pooled experiments. \*p<0.05, \*\*p<0.01, \*\*\*\*p<0.0001 by Mann-Whitney test.

#### TNF induces the fusion of LCVs with lysosomal compartments in macrophages

To gain further insight into the antibacterial mechanism mediated by TNF in macrophages, we infected MN-TNF NAIP5<sup>129S1</sup> BMDM with *L. pneumophila*-GFP, in the presence or absence of rTNF or rIFNγ as a positive control [132,133], and examined the fate of the LCV with respect to lysosomal fusion using confocal microscopy (Fig. 11A). By 3 hours p.i. neither 100 ng/ml TNF nor 200 U/ml IFNγ resulted in *L. pneumophila*-GFP co-localization with lysosomal compartments as defined by lysotracker staining (Fig. 11A). However, when MN-TNF NAIP5<sup>129S1</sup> BMDM were pre-treated with rTNF or rIFNγ overnight, by 1 hour p.i. 50% of *L. pneumophila* in rTNF pre-treated MN-TNF NAIP5<sup>129S1</sup> BMDM co-localized with lysosomal compartments, but not in rIFNγ pre-treated BMDM. By 3 hours p.i., *L. pneumophila*-GFP co-localization with lysosomal compartments was observed in both rTNF and rIFNγ pre-treated MN-TNF induces the fusion of lysosomes with the LCV, but with different kinetics than IFNγ (Fig. 11A).



Figure 11. TNF-mediated killing of *L. pneumophila* is dependent on cathepsin B and lysosomal acidification, and is associated with the fusion of LCVs with lysosomal compartments in macrophages. (A) MN-TNF NAIP5<sup>12951</sup> BMDM were pre-treated overnight with rTNF (rTNF $\psi$ ), rIFN $\gamma$  (rIFN $\gamma\psi$ ), or were left untreated, and then infected with *L. pneumophila*-GFP at MOI 5 with simultaneous addition of rTNF or rIFN $\gamma$  where indicated. 1 hr or 3 hr p.i. co-localization of *L. pneumophila*-GFP with lysosomes (stained with lysotracker Red) was analyzed via confocal microscopy, and at least 100 bacteria were counted per group. BMDM cell membranes were stained with Cholera toxin B AF647. Contrast and brightness of images was adjusted. Data are representative of 2 experiments. (B) Caspase-1/11<sup>-/-</sup> BMDM were infected with WT *L. pneumophila* at MOI 0.1. Where indicated rTNF and/or v-ATPase inhibitor bafilomycin A1, cathepsin B inhibitor CA-074-Me or cathepsin D inhibitor pepstatin A were added at the time of infection. 3 days p.i. BMDM were lysed and CFU were quantified on CYE agar plates. Data are from 2 pooled experiments. \*\*p<0.01 by Mann-Whitney test.

# The antibacterial mechanism mediated by TNF in macrophages is dependent on cathepsin B and lysosomal acidification, and is independent of caspase 1 and 11, and cathepsin D

Since our co-localization experiments suggested that TNF redirected *L. pneumophila* to lysosomal compartments, we sought to determine if lysosomal acidification was required for the TNF-mediated mechanism. To test this we infected Caspase-1/11<sup>-/-</sup> BMDM with *L. pneumophila* with or without rTNF and in the presence or absence of bafilomycin A1, a vacuolar H<sup>+</sup> ATPase inhibitor that blocks lysosomal acidification (Fig. 11B). We found that bafilomycin A1 abrogates the TNF-mediated inhibition of *L. pneumophila*, suggesting that lysosomal acidification is required downstream of TNF.

Next, we set out to identify the TNF-induced bactericidal mechanisms responsible for *L. pneumophila* degradation in acidic compartments. We tested for an involvement of cathepsins by using the specific cathepsin B inhibitor CA-074-Me and the cathepsin D inhibitor pepstatin A. We found that while inhibition of cathepsin D did not impact TNF-mediated inhibition of *L. pneumophila* replication, inhibition of cathepsin B strongly reduced TNF-mediated inhibition of *L. pneumophila* replication, suggesting that cathepsin B is a key molecule in the TNF-mediated antibacterial mechanism (Fig. 11B). In summary, our data show that the antibacterial mechanism mediated by TNF in BMDM is dependent on cathepsin B and lysosomal acidification, but independent of Caspase-1 and 11, and cathepsin D.

# Autophagy and mitochondrial ROS do not appear to play a role in TNF-mediated inhibition of *L. pneumophila* replication in BMDM

Autophagy is a pathway which has been reported to target intracellular pathogens for elimination, including *L. pneumophila* and *M. tuberculosis* [134,135]. We therefore tested if autophagy was involved in TNF-mediated inhibition of *L. pneumophila* replication in macrophages. Autophagy sufficient (Atg5<sup>+</sup>) and deficient (Atg5<sup>-</sup>) macrophage cell lines were infected with WT or  $\Delta$ FlaA *L. pneumophila* at MOI 0.1 in the presence or absence of rTNF, and CFU were quantified 3 days p.i.. We found that both WT and  $\Delta$ FlaA *L. pneumophila* growth was inhibited by rTNF in autophagy deficient macrophages, suggesting TNF-mediated inhibition of *L. pneumophila* replication is not dependent on autophagy (Fig. 12A). However, the autophagy sufficient cell line was not permissive to WT *L. pneumophila*, and allowed only limited growth in either case (Fig. 12A). Perhaps this was because Atg5<sup>+</sup> cells have lost TNFR1, or because they produce large amounts of TNF in response to *L. pneumophila* infection. Regardless, the fact that the autophagy deficient cell line was able to respond to TNF suggests that the TNF mediated mechanism is independent of autophagy.

Mitochondrial ROS have been shown to be involved in mediating the activation of the NLRP3 inflammasome [136], and the NLRP3 inflammasome has been shown to be involved in flagellin-independent immunity to *L. pneumophila* [137]. We tested for the involvement of mitochondrial ROS in TNF-mediated inhibition of *L. pneumophila* replication in macrophages by infecting MN-TNF NAIP5<sup>129S1</sup> BMDM with WT *L. pneumophila* at MOI 0.1 with or without the addition of the mitochondrial superoxide inhibitor mitoTEMPO, in the presence or absence of rTNF. We found that mitoTEMPO did not impart TNF-mediated inhibition of *L. pneumophila* replication in BMDM, suggesting that mitochondrial ROS are not involved in the TNF-mediated mechanism (Fig. 12B).



Figure 12. Autophagy does not appear to play a role in TNF-mediated inhibition of *L. pneumophila* replication in BMDM. (A) Autophagy sufficient (Atg5<sup>+</sup>) and deficient (Atg5<sup>-</sup>) macrophage cell lines were infected with WT or  $\Delta$ FlaA *L. pneumophila* at MOI 0.1. Where indicated rTNF was added at the time of infection. 3 days p.i. BMDM were lysed and CFU were quantified on CYE agar plates. Data are representative of two experiments. (B) MN-TNF NAIP5<sup>129S1</sup> BMDM were infected with WT *L. pneumophila* at MOI 0.1. Where indicated rTNF and/or mitochondrial ROS scavenger mitoTEMPO were added at the time of infection. 3 days p.i. BMDM were lysed and CFU were quantified on CYE agar plates. Data are representative of two experiments. (B) MN-TNF NAIP5<sup>129S1</sup> BMDM were infected with WT *L. pneumophila* at MOI 0.1. Where indicated rTNF and/or mitochondrial ROS scavenger mitoTEMPO were added at the time of infection. 3 days p.i. BMDM were lysed and CFU were quantified on CYE agar plates. Data are from one experiment.

#### CCR2<sup>+</sup> monocytes might be important for the clearance of L. pneumophila in vivo

The major populations that infiltrate the lung upon intranasal *L. pneumophila* infection include neutrophils, macrophages and monocytes. In order to investigate the role of inflammatory monocytes in the immune response against *L. pneumophila*, we infected WT and CCR2-DTR mice, with or without diphtheria toxin (DT) treatment, and measured the bacterial burden in the BALF 5 days p.i. (Fig. 13A). DT treated CCR2-DTR mice had a much higher bacterial load in the BALF than their untreated counterparts, suggesting that monocytes play an important role in the innate immune defense against *L. pneumophila* lung infection (Fig. 13A). However, DT treatment also depleted AM in these mice, leaving open the possibility that monocytes do not play an important role, while AM are essential (Fig. 13B).



**Figure 13.** CCR2<sup>+</sup> monocytes might be important for the clearance of *L. pneumophila in vivo*. (A-B) WT CCR2-DTR mice were infected intranasally with WT *L. pneumophila*, with or without i.p. DT treatment, and 5 days p.i. BALF CFU were quantified on CYE agar plates. Data is from one experiment. (C) WT, CCR2<sup>-/-</sup> or TNF<sup>-/-</sup> mice were infected intranasally with WT *L. pneumophila*, and 5 days p.i. BALF CFU were quantified on CYE agar plates. Data are from one experiment.

In an attempt to bypass the possible depletion of AM with DT in CCR2-DTR mice, we also assessed the clearance of *L. pneumophila* in CCR2<sup>-/-</sup> mice, and TNF<sup>-/-</sup> mice were included as a reference to control for the quality of the bacteria. Bacterial burden was not increased in CCR2<sup>-/-</sup> mice in the BALF 5 days p.i. compared to WT mice, suggesting that CCR2<sup>+</sup> monocytes are

dispensable for the control of *L. pneumophila* lung infection (Fig. 13C). However, we cannot exclude that compensatory mechanisms are in place in CCR2<sup>-/-</sup> mice, as has been found with these mice in other models [138]. Such compensatory mechanisms could obscure the contribution of inflammatory monocytes in CCR2<sup>-/-</sup> mice.

#### Cytokines in the BALF of L. pneumophila infected mice

In order to gain insight into the inflammatory environment in the BALF of WT and MN-TNF NAIP5<sup>129S1</sup> mice, we measured the levels of TNF, IFN $\gamma$ , IL-1 $\alpha$ , IL-1 $\beta$ , IL-12p70 and IL-6 using a cytometric bead array (CBA) assay. As a reference, rTNF used in the BMDM assays was diluted to 5 ng/ml and 2.5 ng/ml, and measured also. Very little TNF was recovered from the BALF of MN-TNF NAIP5<sup>129S1</sup> mice, confirming that macrophages, monocytes and/or neutrophils are required to produce TNF in the BALF in response to *L. pneumophila* lung infection (Fig.13). At 16 hours p.i., MN-TNF NAIP5<sup>129S1</sup> mice had reduced IL-1 $\alpha$ , IL-1 $\beta$  and IL-6 compared to WT mice, suggesting that TNF from neutrophils, macrophages and/or monocytes is involved in stimulating the production of these cytokines. IL-12p70 peaked at 36 hours p.i., and very little IFN $\gamma$  was produced in response to *L. pneumophila* infection in our model (Fig. 14). In summary, TNF from macrophages, monocytes and/or neutrophils had an impact in enhancing IL-1 $\alpha$ , IL-1 $\beta$  and IL-6 in the BALF of *L. pneumophila* infected mice.



Figure 14. Cytokines in the BALF of *L. pneumophila* infected mice. WT or MN-TNF NAIP5<sup>129S1</sup> mice were infected intranasally with WT *L. pneumophila*. Mice were sacrificed at the indicated time points, and BALF was cleared by centrifugation and frozen. BALF TNF, IFN $\gamma$ , IL-1 $\alpha$ , IL-1 $\beta$ , IL-12p70 and IL-6 were quantified by cytometric bead array assay (CBA). As a reference, rTNF used in the BMDM assays was diluted to 5 ng/ml and 2.5 ng/ml, and also measured by CBA. Data are from one experiment.

### MN-TNF NAIP5129S1 BMDM do not produce IL-6 in response to L. pneumophila infection

To complement the cytokine data from the BALF, we also measured TNF, IFN $\gamma$ , IL-1 $\alpha$ , IL-1 $\beta$ , IL-12p70 and IL-6 produced by *L. pneumophila* infected WT and MN-TNF NAIP5<sup>129S1</sup> BMDM. As expected MN-TNF NAIP5<sup>129S1</sup> BMDM did not produce TNF (Fig. 15). Though the data are only from one experiment and there are not many data points, there is a trend for reduced IL-1 $\alpha$  and IL-1 $\beta$  27 hours p.i., but not at later time points. Interestingly, IL-6 is low in

the supernatants of MN-TNF NAIP5<sup>129S1</sup> BMDM, suggesting that TNF is important for the induction of this cytokine in response to *L. pneumophila* infection (Fig. 15).



Figure 15. MN-TNF NAIP5<sup>129S1</sup> BMDM do not produce IL-6 in response to *L. pneumophila* infection. WT or MN-TNF NAIP5<sup>129S1</sup> BMDM were infected with WT *L. pneumophila* at MOI 0.1 in 24 well plates. At the indicated timepoints, supernatant was collected and frozen. TNF, IFN $\gamma$ , IL-1 $\alpha$ , IL-1 $\beta$ , IL-12p70 and IL-6 were quantified by cytometric bead array assay. Data are from one experiment.

#### L. pneumophila may differentiate into MIFs in neutrophils but not AM

*L. pneumophila* replicating in amoeba differentiate into MIF, a highly infectious form of *L. pneumophila* which is resistant to environmental stresses. However, the bacterium does not differente into this form in macrophages [95]. As shown in Figure 16, *L. pneumophila* tended to be more tightly packed in neutrophils than in AM, and appeared to be shorter and rounder, which are characteristics of MIFs [94]. Though this by no means proves that neutrophils contain MIFs, this provides some evidence that the hypothesis might be worth exploring. The

neutrophil in the upper right contains *L. pneumophila* which are nolonger  $GFP^+$  and stain positive for lysotracker, suggesting that they are in the process of being digested. This suggests that even if the observed *L. pneumophila* are MIFs, neutrophils are able to kill them.

Neutrophil

AM





**Figure 16.** *L. pneumophila* may differentiate into MIFs in neutrophils but not AM. Mixed BM chimeric mice reconstituted with 50% Ly5.1<sup>+</sup> WT BM, and either 50% Ly5.2<sup>+</sup> WT or TNFR1<sup>-/-</sup> BM were generated. Chimeras were infected with WT *L. pneumophila*-GFP, and 2 days p.i. BALF was harvested and Ly5.1<sup>+</sup> and Ly5.2<sup>+</sup> AM and neutrophils were sorted. Cells were stained with lysotracker Red and Cholera toxin B AF647, and analyzed via confocal microscopy.

## Discussion

Upon inhalation of contaminated aerosols, *L. pneumophila* initially establishes infection in AM [74,139]. However, the resolution of *L. pneumophila* infection by the innate immune system in the lung requires crosstalk between many cell types, and the coordination of this cross-talk and the mechanisms involved remain poorly understood [106,140]. It has been shown that early inflammasome-independent AM-derived IL-1 $\alpha$  complemented by later inflammasome-dependent IL-1 $\beta$  produced by AM and possibly other hematopoietic cells results in IL1R/MyD88 dependent chemokine production by airway epithelial cells [74,85,97,98,102]. These chemokines serve as an amplification of the IL-1 signal produced by hematopoietic cells and are required for the early recruitment of neutrophils to the lung, which are essential in controlling *L. pneumophila* bacterial burden [85,98-101].

Here we show that the neutrophil-mediated mechanisms that lead to *L. pneumophila* clearance *in vivo* are twofold. On the one hand, neutrophils directly kill *L. pneumophila* via ROS mediated mechanisms, and on the other hand neutrophil and monocyte-derived TNF initiates microbicidal mechanisms in AM via TNFR1, which increase their capacity to inhibit *L. pneumophila* replication. The latter involves rerouting the bacteria to lysosomal compartments despite the presence of T4SS effectors, and requires cathepsin B. The importance of TNF and ROS-mediated mechanisms in the control of *L. pneumophila* infection are underscored by the marked susceptibility of TNF<sup>-/-</sup> and CYBB<sup>-/-</sup> mice to *L. pneumophila* infection.

The impact of TNF-mediated antimicrobial mechanisms directed against *L. pneumophila* cannot be fully appreciated by the study of macrophages *in vitro*. In accordance with other studies, we observed that TNFR1<sup>-/-</sup> BMDM only support moderate *L. pneumophila* growth in comparison to NAIP5<sup>-/-</sup> or NLRC4<sup>-/-</sup> BMDM, which support several orders of magnitude more growth [126,130] (Fig. 6A and B). However, this difference is not observed when comparing the bacterial burden of TNFR1<sup>-/-</sup> and NLRC4<sup>-/-</sup> mice *in vivo*, where there is even a trend for TNF to play a more dominant role (Fig. 1A). A possible explanation for these apparently incongruent results is that paracrine TNF produced *in vivo* by neutrophils and monocytes, rather than autocrine TNF produced by AM, mediates the increased resistance to *L. pneumophila*, and further that this TNF can compensate for a lack of NAIP5-NLRC4 mediated immune defense. Though we and others did observe modest endogenous TNF production by BMDM in response to *L. pneumophila* infection (Figs. 8 and 14, [130]), and found that this TNF accounted for the increased susceptibility of TNFR1<sup>-/-</sup> BMDMs (Fig. 6A, [130]), this was

not enough to compensate for lack of NAIP5-NLRC4 flagellin sensing, arguing against a dominant role for autocrine TNF production by AM (Fig. 6B, [130]). In fact, NLRC4<sup>-/-</sup> BMDM secrete more TNF than WT BMDM in response to L. pneumophila infection, possibly due to increased bacterial burden or a failure to undergo pyroptosis (Fig. 8, [130]). However, we propose that in vivo, AM are exposed to much higher local concentrations of TNF than produced endogenously by isolated BMDMs. In vitro, 200 - 600 pg/ml TNF were observed in the supernatant of WT BMDM (Fig. 15, [130]), in comparison to around 20 ng/ml reported in the BALF of A/J mice at peak concentration [141]. Assuming an epithelial lining fluid volume of 100 µl, or a 10 - 20 fold dilution in the BALF of volume 1-2 ml, the actual TNF concentration in the undiluted endothelial lining fluid would be 200 - 400 ng/ml. Indeed, the addition of 100 ng/ml rTNF markedly suppressed L. pneumophila replication in NLRC4-/- BMDM and increased cell viability (Fig. 6B). Note that we only measured 1 ng/ml TNF in the BALF at 16 and 36 hours post infection (Fig. 14). However, we may have missed the timepoint at which TNF reached its peak, and the rTNF which was used in the BMDM experiments and which we measured as a reference was also underestimated by around 16 fold, suggesting that 1 ng / ml is an underestimation, or that less than 100 ng/ml rTNF was added in our experiments (Fig. 14). Furthermore, as *in vitro* with NLRC4<sup>-/-</sup> BMDM, TNF might be increased in the BALF compared to WT mice when NAIP5-NLRC4 signaling is reduced, as would be the case in A/J mice and NLRC4<sup>-/-</sup> mice. In addition, TNF has been shown to synergize with other cytokines such as IFNy and type 1 interferons (IFN) in the restriction of L. pneumophila, which might also be present at higher concentrations in the epithelial lining fluid [112,130,142].

In order to verify this hypothesis, we made use of MN-TNF NAIP5<sup>129S1</sup> mice, which lack TNF in macrophages, monocytes and neutrophils and carry the NAIP5<sup>129S1</sup> allele. BMDM from MN-TNF NAIP5<sup>129S1</sup> mice were almost as susceptible to *L. pneumophila* infection as BMDM from NLRC4<sup>-/-</sup> mice, as expected in the absence of proper NAIP5 signaling (Fig. 6B). Strikingly, MN-TNF NAIP5<sup>129S1</sup> mice were also much more susceptible to *L. pneumophila* infection *in vivo* compared to either NLRC4<sup>-/-</sup> or TNFR1<sup>-/-</sup> mice, which in combination with the intracellular staining results showing that monocytes and neutrophils produce TNF in response to *L. pneumophila* (Fig. 4), suggests that neutrophil and monocyte derived TNF compensates to a large degree for weak NAIP5-NLRC4 flagellin sensing *in vivo* (Figs. 1A and B, 4B). Together with the observation that TNF is important for AM but not neutrophil-mediated killing, these experiments highlight the importance of TNF-mediated antibacterial mechanisms in AMs in the context of *L. pneumophila* lung infection (Fig. 3).

In our *in vivo* experiments where we sorted AM and neutrophils from WT:TNFR1<sup>-/-</sup> and WT:WT chimeric mice, we found that TNF signaling via TNFR1 was important for AM but not neutrophil-mediated restriction of L. pneumophila growth (Fig. 3). It is worth noting that we also attempted to show that TNF signaling via TNFR1 in AM restricts L. pneumophila replication in AM via FACS analysis, upon infection of chimeric mice with L. pneumophila-GFP and L. pneumophila-GFPind. However, these attempts proved unsuccessful for various potential reasons, which I will discuss here. Firstly, AM are highly autofluorescent cells, especially in the range of 500-550 nm, making it difficult to discern GFP<sup>+</sup> cells in this population [143]. In addition, our experiments mixing various ratios of WT and MN-TNF NAIP5<sup>129S1</sup> BMDM (Fig. 9) led us to believe that TNF acted on BMDM, and presumably AM, almost exclusively in an autocrine manner, as we were not aware at the time that MN-TNF NAIP5<sup>129S1</sup> mice had a defect in NAIP5. Thus we conducted our experiments with WT:MN-TNF NAIP5<sup>129S1</sup> and WT:TNF<sup>-/-</sup> chimeric mice rather than WT:TNFR1<sup>-/-</sup> mice, as we initially did not consider the effects of paracrine TNF. The fact that we did not see differences in CFU / cell between MN-TNF NAIP5<sup>129S1</sup> or TNF<sup>-/-</sup> AM and WT AM was expected, given that we hypothesized that paracrine TNF from neutrophils and monocytes yielded the observed L. pneumophila restriction, and both MN-TNF NAIP5<sup>129S1</sup> and TNF<sup>-/-</sup> AM express functional TNFR1.

After discovering that MN-TNF NAIP5<sup>129S1</sup> mice are not simply conditional TNF knockouts, we revised our logic and conducted an experiment in which WT:TNFR1/2<sup>-/-</sup> mice were infected with *L. pneumophila*-GFP. However, only two WT:TNFR1/2<sup>-/-</sup> mice were available, and though both mice tended to have more GFP<sup>+</sup> TNFR1/2<sup>-/-</sup> AM than GFP<sup>+</sup> WT AM, (after having normalized for the total number of TNFR1/2<sup>-/-</sup> and WT AM), the variability was high and this did not tell us whether or not the *L. pneumophila* contained in the AM were alive (data not shown). Furthermore, experiments with *L. pneumophila*-GFPind infected chimeric mice showed us that GFP<sup>+</sup> AM containing *L. pneumophila*-GFPind were very difficult if not impossible to tell apart from uninfected AM, as *L. pneumophila*-GFPind are much less bright than *L. pneumophila*-GFP (data not shown). Thus, we did not expect this approach to have the potential to accurately quantify live *L. pneumophila* within AM. In parallel, we obtained reproducible results by sorting and plating AM on CYE plates indicating that WT:TNFR1<sup>-/-</sup> mice contained more CFU within TNFR1<sup>-/-</sup> AM than within WT AM, and thus we abandoned the FACS analysis based approach. As a final consideration, I would like to note that we were only able to detect differences in the number of CFU contained within TNFR1<sup>-/-</sup> AM vs. WT

AM using the cell sorting and plating approach after introducing a cell lysis procedure, in which AM were lysed using 0.7% Tween 20 in PBS. This observation, and the observation made using the confocal microscope that TNFR1<sup>-/-</sup> AM tended to contain more *L. pneumophila* than WT AM within the same mouse, suggested that differences in numbers of CFU between TNFR1<sup>-/-</sup> and WT AM might only be detectable if the total number of CFU rather than the total number of infected AM are taken into account. Thus, this leaves open the possibility that the FACS based analysis of GFP<sup>+</sup> AM cannot even in theory detect a difference in the number of *L. pneumophila* in TNFR1<sup>-/-</sup> and WT AM in *L. pneumophila* infected chimeric mice.

Though it is known that A/J mice are permissive to L. pneumophila replication due to allelic variations in the NAIP5 gene, the molecular basis for the interactions between NAIP5, flagellin, NLRC4 and other inflammasome components are still being unraveled [28]. The permissiveness to L. pneumophila of A/J, FvB/N, C3H/HeJ, BALBcJ and 129S1 mice was shown to be attributable to mutations in NAIP5, and 6 of the 14 amino acid (aa) missense mutations present in A/J mouse NAIP5 (NAIP5<sup>A/J</sup>) are shared by all the permissive strains (Exon 11 aa 472, 533, 538 and Exon 12 aa 1092, 1116, 1123), suggesting that these aa are important for NAIP5 function [119]. We made the observation that none of these 6 mutations occur in the recently defined NAIP5 ligand specificity domain [28], suggesting that they are involved in other interactions that contribute to the restriction of L. pneumophila growth in macrophages. Since NAIP5<sup>A/J</sup> is able to activate caspase-1 but not downstream caspase-7 in response to L. pneumophila flagellin, these 6 aa may promote interactions between caspase-1 and caspase-7 [33,121]. Of the 14 aa differences between NAIP5<sup>A/J</sup> and C57BL/6 NAIP5 (NAIP5<sup>B6</sup>), only two occur in the ligand specificity domain (Exon 11 aa 647 and 755) [28,119], and may account for the observed increase in susceptibility of A/J mice compared to 129S1 mice.

In addition there are 5 aa in NAIP5<sup>129S1</sup> that differ from NAIP5<sup>B6</sup> (Exon 3 aa 92 and 144, Exon 5 aa 242 and Exon 11 aa 516 and 521) but also from NAIP5<sup>A/J</sup> and the NAIP5 alleles of all the permissive mouse strains listed above, and these are also not located in the ligand specificity domain. We therefore consider these mutations less likely candidates to be involved in the hypofunctionality of NAIP5<sup>129S1</sup>, though this will need to be verified. The last two out of the 14 aa (position 1241 and 1275) mutated in NAIP5<sup>A/J</sup> and also in NAIP5<sup>129S1</sup> as published by Wright et al. are not present in our mice, as Exon 15 was replaced by WT exon 15 in our mice, ruling out an effect mediated by mutations in these 2 aa in our experiments. These two aa are located in the leucine rich repeat (LRR) domain, which has been shown to be involved

in the autoinhibition of NAIP5, predicting that mutations in this domain could result in the constitutive activation of NAIP5 [28]. Our study validates the hypofunctionality of NAIP5<sup>129S1</sup> in addition to the better characterized NAIP5<sup>A/J</sup>, and will hopefully contribute to future studies investigating the molecular basis for NAIP5 function.

One caveat in our experiments involving MN-TNF NAIP5<sup>129S1</sup> mice is that the mice were backcrossed onto the C57BL/6 background only four times, and the possibility remains open that further genetic elements other than NAIP5<sup>129S1</sup> from the 129S1 background might contribute to the susceptibility of these mice and their macrophages to *L. pneumophila* infection. However this seems unlikely, since the susceptibility of 129S1 mice and other permissive strains mapped to NAIP5 [119,120], and since MN-TNF NAIP5<sup>129S1</sup> BMDM are similarly susceptible to NLRC4<sup>-/-</sup> BMDM, and no other pathway has been shown to cause as much susceptibility to *L. pneumophila* replication.

There is discrepancy in the literature as to whether other mouse strains besides A/J mice are susceptible to L. pneumophila infection, and the statement is often made that only A/J mice are susceptible, or that they represent a "notable exception" to other mouse strains [117,120,144,145]. Furthermore, the study published in 2003 in Nature Genetics by Diez et al. [120], which along with Wright et al. [119] originally identified NAIP5 as the gene responsible for the susceptibility of A/J mice to L. pneumophila infection, found that 129X1 mice were not susceptible to *L. pneumophila* infection, and that NAIP5<sup>129X1</sup> could functionally complement NAIP5<sup>A/J</sup>. However, it was noted in 1977 that what is widely referred to as 129 mice actually represents a collection of mice with varying genetic backgrounds, due to incomplete documentation of various genetic backgrounds that were intercrossed with the original 129 mouse strain [146,147]. This recognition prompted the renaming of 129 mice in an attempt to classify them into groups with similar genetic backgrounds (Table 1). Notably, 129S1 and 129X1 mice are different subgroups of 129Sv, and might not have the same genetic background (Table 1), and thus these mice might not have the same NAIP5 allele. The apparent lack of awareness of the genetic variability present in 129Sv mice has led to confusion, as evidenced by a recent study in which 129Sv mice are simply referred to as 129 mice, and it is assumed that the only gene of relevance lacking as compared to C57BL/6 mice is caspase-11, despite Wright et al.'s publication regarding NAIP5<sup>129S1</sup> [117]. Thus, discrepancies in the literature regarding the status of the susceptibility of 129S1 mice to L. pneumophila infection are at least in part the result of a lack of awareness of the genetic variability present in 129Sv mice.

# Table 1. Nomenclature for the 129 inbred mouse strains

Strain Designation (Former Designation)	Abbreviated Designation	Genotype	Phenotype
129P1/ReJ (129/ReJ)	129P1	$\frac{A^{w}/A^{w} Oca2^{p} Tyr^{c-}}{c^{h}/Oca2^{p} Tyr^{c-ch}}$	white-bellied, pink- eyed, light chinchilla (light tan)
129P2/OlaHsd (129/OlaHsd)	129P2	$A^w/A^w Oca2^p Tyr^{c-}$ $^{ch}/Oca2^p Tyr^{c-ch}$	white-bellied, pink- eyed, light chinchilla (light tan)
129P3/J (129/J)	129P3	$A^{w}/A^{w} Oca2^{p} Tyr^{c-}$ $^{ch}/Oca2^{p} Tyr^{c}$ or $A^{w}/A^{w} Oca2^{p} Tyr^{c}/Oca2^{p} Tyr^{c}$ or $A^{w}/A^{w} Oca2^{p} Tyr^{c-}$ $^{ch}/Oca2^{p} Tyr^{c-ch}$	white-bellied, pink- eyed, light chinchilla (off- white) or albino or white-bellied, pink- eyed, light chinchilla (light tan)
129X1/SvJ (129/SvJ)	129X1	$\begin{array}{c} A^{w}/A^{w} \ Oca2^{p} \ Tyr^{c-} \\ {}^{ch}/Oca2^{p} \ Tyr^{c} \\ \text{or} \\ A^{w}/A^{w} \ Oca2^{p} \ Tyr^{c}/Oca2^{p} \ Tyr^{c} \\ \text{or} \\ A^{w}/A^{w} \ Oca2^{p} \ Tyr^{c-} \\ {}^{ch}/Oca2^{p} \ Tyr^{c-ch} \end{array}$	white-bellied, pink- eyed, light chinchilla (off- white) or albino or white-bellied, pink- eyed, light chinchilla (light tan)
$129S1/Sv-Oca2^{+} Tyr^{+} Kitl^{Sl-J}$ (129/Sv- $p^{+} Tyr^{+} Kitl^{Sl-J/+})$ (129/Sv- $p^{+} + Tyr^{-}$ $c^{M}gf^{Sl-J/+})$	12981	A <sup>w</sup> /A <sup>w</sup> Kitl <sup>SI-J</sup> /Kitl <sup>+</sup>	white (or light)- bellied agouti, coat color dilution, variable white spotting
$ \begin{array}{c} 129S1/SvImJ \\ (129S3/SvImJ) \\ (129/SvImJ) \\ (129/Sv- \\ p^{+} Tyr^{+} Kitl^{+}/J) \\ (129Sv- + p^{+} + Tyr^{-} \\ c^{+} + Mgf-SlJ/J) \end{array} $	12981		white (or light)- bellied agouti
129S2/SvPas (129/SvPas)	12982	$A^{w}/\!A^{w}$	white (or light)- bellied agouti

129S4/SvJae (129/SvJae)	12984	$A^{w}/A^{w}$	white (or light)- bellied agouti
129S5/SvEvBrd (129/SvEvBrd)	12985	$A^w/A^w$	white (or light)- bellied agouti
129S9/SvEvH (129/SvEv)		$A^w/A^w$	white (or light)- bellied agouti
129S6/SvEvTac (129/SvEvTac)	12986	$A^{w}/A^{w}$	white (or light)- bellied agouti
129S7/SvEvBrd-Hprt1b-m2(129/SvEvBrd-Hprtb-m2)	12987	<i>A<sup>w</sup>/A<sup>w</sup></i>	white (or light)- bellied agouti
129S8/SvEv- Gpi1 <sup>c</sup> Hprt1 <sup>b-m2</sup> /J (129/SvEv- Gpi1 <sup>c</sup> Hprt <sup>b-m2</sup> @J)	129S8	<i>A<sup>w</sup>/A<sup>w</sup></i>	white (or light)- bellied agouti
$ \begin{array}{c} 129T1/Sv-\\ Oca2^{+} Tyr^{c-} \\ {}^{ch} Dnd1^{Ter}/+ \\ (129/Sv-p^{+} Tyr^{c-} \\ {}^{ch} Ter/+ @Na) \\ (129/Sv-+^{p} Tyr^{c-} \\ {}^{ch} Ter/+ @Na) \\ \end{array} $	129T1	A <sup>w</sup> /A <sup>w</sup> Tyr <sup>c-ch</sup> /Tyr <sup>c-ch</sup>	white (or light)- bellied chinchilla
129T2/SvEms (129/SvEms- <i>Ter</i> <sup>+</sup> ?)	129T2	$A^{w}/A^{w} Tyr^{c-ch}/Tyr^{c-ch}$	white (or light)- bellied chinchilla
129T2/SvEmsJ (129/SvEms- <i>Ter</i> <sup>+</sup> ?/J)	129T2	$A^{w}/A^{w} \overline{Tyr^{c-ch}/Tyr^{c-ch}}$	white (or light)- bellied chinchilla

URL: http://www.informatics.jax.org/mgihome/nomen/strain\_129.shtml

Using various neutrophil depletion protocols, we attempted to tease apart ROS-dependent and ROS-independent neutrophil functions during the innate immune response to *L. pneumophila* lung infection. All three depletion approaches, namely the i.p. injection of either  $\alpha$ -Ly6G, or  $\alpha$ -Gr-1, or  $\alpha$ -Ly6G and  $\alpha$ -G-CSF, resulted in a delay in the clearance of *L. pneumophila* from the BALF of WT mice, suggesting that each approach was able to reduce if not eliminate neutrophil function. However these differences, especially with the first two approaches, were relatively small and inconsistent, which as previously mentioned might indicate that depletion might not have been entirely effective. This may be due to residual Ly6G<sup>-</sup> Ly6C-intermediate, MPO<sup>+</sup>, CD11b<sup>+</sup> cells, which could represent neutrophils that have been coated with Ly6G, or

due to compensatory cells. However, it could also be a reflection of the fact that day 3 may be too early an endpoint for neutrophil depletion experiments. It has been observed by other groups that clearance of *L. pneumophila* in the lung by neutrophils seems to take effect as of 12-24 hours with WT *L. pneumophila* [85] or 2 days p.i. with  $\Delta$ FlaA [102], and 2 days p.i. with WT *L. pneumophila* in A/J mice [101], though there is no proven mechanistic explanation for why this might be the case. Thus by day 4 or 5 p.i., perhaps a larger difference would have been observed in our experiments. In addition,  $\alpha$ -Gr-1 treatment might also damage off target cells such as monocytes, which also express Ly6C, and  $\alpha$ -G-CSF might inhibit AM function [129], reducing the specificity of these experimental approaches.

Our data suggest that neutrophils have a dual role in *L. pneumophila* clearance, in that they kill ingested bacteria via ROS-dependent killing, and that they prime AM via TNF. We would thus have expected that the depletion of neutrophils would delay bacterial clearance in TNF<sup>-/-</sup>, MN-TNF NAIP5<sup>129S1</sup> and CYBB<sup>-/-</sup> mice, with the greatest relative difference expected between WT depleted and undepleted mice, since both neutrophil functions should be present in WT mice. To some extent, that is what we see with the  $\alpha$ -Gr-1 treatment, though we are lacking TNF<sup>-/-</sup> mice in that experiment (Fig. 5B).

Other groups have also observed the presence of "compensatory" cells in *L. pneumophila* infected IL-1R<sup>-/-</sup> mice, which resembled AM or were CD45-negative/low [85]. They speculated that these cells might be damaged cells, which are normally phagocytosed and eliminated by neutrophils. The fact that they used IL-1R<sup>-/-</sup> mice rather than Ab depletion demonstrates that "additional" cells arise in the BALF in the absence of neutrophils during *L. pneumophila* infection. Thus it is possible that the additional cells observed in our depletion experiments represent damaged cells normally eliminated by neutrophils, neutrophils masked by  $\alpha$ -Ly6G or  $\alpha$ -Gr-1, or compensatory monocytes or other cells. In summary, our neutrophil depletion studies remain inconclusive as to the relative contribution of ROS and TNF to neutrophil-dependent control of *L. pneumophila* lung infection.

In light of the finding that neutrophil and monocyte-derived TNF mediates an essential AMdriven immune response that can compensate for weak NAIP5-NLRC4-mediated immunity, it is interesting to note that  $\Delta$ FlaA *L. pneumophila* is able to replicate in WT AM within the first 2 days p.i. [102], as is WT *L. pneumophila* in A/J AM [101], after which bacteria are cleared. These kinetics fit with the observations that TNF peaks in the BALF 2 days p.i. (Fig. 14, [141]), that macrophages require pre-activation of around 20 hours with TNF before they become restrictive for *L. pneumophila* replication (Fig. 11A, [130]), and that failure to recruit neutrophils to the lung from 12 hours up to around 2 days p.i. does not greatly impact bacterial burden, though these kinetics may vary with the size of the inoculum [85,102]. Also consistent with a need for neutrophil-derived TNF is the observation that clearance of  $\Delta$ FlaA *L. pneumophila* is delayed to 72 hours p.i. in IL1R<sup>-/-</sup> mice, in which neutrophil recruitment is delayed, and that in MyD88<sup>-/-</sup> mice clearance is postponed to 6 days p.i., or even abrogated [102]. Since MyD88<sup>-/-</sup> BMDM fail to secrete TNF in response to *L. pneumophila* (Fig.8, [130,148], and neutrophils secrete TNF in a flagellin-independent manner (Fig. 4B, [74]), it seems highly likely that impaired TNF production by neutrophils and monocytes contributes to the striking susceptibility of MyD88<sup>-/-</sup> mice to *L. pneumophila* lung infection.

The fact that AM do not produce much TNF in response to *L. pneumophila* infection but instead rely mostly on neutrophils and monocytes, which must first be recruited to the airways to produce TNF, likely reflects a mechanism which limits overzealous lung inflammation. Indeed, TNF is a very potent cytokine, and it's leakage from the airspace to the circulation can on its own strongly contribute to anaphylactic shock, as shown by systemic anti-TNF treatment in a rabbit model of *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* pneumonia and other infection models [149-151]. Congruent with this idea, though neutrophils are essential for the resolution of *L. pneumophila* lung infection they are also associated with lung pathology in Legionnaires' disease [152,153]. This may in part be due to their role in TNF secretion.

Our CBA data measuring cytokines in the BALF of WT and MN-TNF NAIP5<sup>129S1</sup> mice suggest that TNF from macrophages, monocytes and / or neutrophils has an impact in enhancing IL- $1\alpha$ , IL- $1\beta$  and IL-6 in the BALF of *L. pneumophila* infected mice (Fig. 14). Since MN-TNF NAIP5<sup>129S1</sup> BMDM also produce very little IL-6 in response to *L. pneumophila* infection, it appears that BMDM have a cell intrinsic requirement for TNF in order to secrete IL-6 in response to *L. pneumophila* (Fig. 15). However, these data should be interpreted cautiously, as it is possible that hypofunctional NAIP5 signaling as well as differences in the genetic background of MN-TNF NAIP5<sup>129S1</sup> and C57BL/6 mice might account for these differences. In order to confirm that TNF from macrophages, monocytes and / or neutrophils is required for normal levels of IL-6 in response to *L. pneumophila* lung infection, experiments could be conducted using conditional TNF knockout mice on a pure C57BL/6 background, or one could use anti-TNF antibodies. By 36 hours p.i. MN-TNF NAIP5<sup>129S1</sup> mice appear to have normal levels of IL-6, indicating that this defect is transient, at least until 5 days p.i.. However, given that MN-TNF NAIP5<sup>129S1</sup> mice have higher bacterial loads than WT mice, IL-6 levels equal to

those of WT mice might still be indicative of impairment. The early reduction of IL-6 correlates well with the early reduction of IL-1 $\alpha$  and IL-1 $\beta$ , which fits with recently published data showing that IL-1 $\alpha$  and IL-1 $\beta$  induce TNF and IL-6 in non-infected cells in response to *L*. *pneumophila* infection [154]. Thus it is possible that both NAIP5 and TNF contribute to the induction of IL-1 $\alpha$  and IL-1 $\beta$ , and in their absence or impairment, IL-6 production in response to *L*. *pneumophila* is reduced.

IL-6 has been implicated in immune defense against Legionnaires' disease. There has been a case study in which a patient receiving anti-IL-6 therapy for rheumatoid arthritis succumbed to Legionnaires' disease [155], and both mice and humans produce IL-6 in response to *L. pneumophila* lung infection [154,156-158]. Furthermore, evidence from experiments with IL-6 deficient mice suggest that IL-6 is important for immune defense against *S. pneumoniae* pneumonia [159]. However the extent of involvement of IL-6 in *L. pneumophila* lung infection is not yet known, and neither is the mechanism by which it acts.

We also show that neutrophils kill *L. pneumophila* in the lung directly by ROS-dependent mechanisms. Interestingly, AM do not produce ROS in response to WT *L. pneumophila*. This is in line with a study demonstrating that *L. pneumophila* actively represses ROS in AM by a T4SS-dependent mechanism [128] and our observation that AM produce ROS in response to  $\Delta$ T but not much ROS in response to WT *L. pneumophila* (Fig. 4B). Why this mechanism is not active in neutrophils remains unclear, given that both neutrophils and AM are targeted by the T4SS and harbor live *L. pneumophila in vivo* (Fig. 3A, [74]). In fact, for neutrophils the opposite is true, as our results show that ROS induction in neutrophils is T4SS-dependent. On a similar note, a recent study has shown differential responses between macrophages and neutrophils to *Salmonella* flagellin, in that NAIP5-NLRC4 triggered pyroptosis in macrophages but not neutrophils [160]. How *L. pneumophila* adapts to these two different intracellular environments also remains unknown. The study of the differential activation of neutrophils and AM by *L. pneumophila* will likely yield interesting insights into these cell specific host-pathogen interactions in future investigations.

It is intriguing that *L. pneumophila* has at least 7 effectors which block host cell translation, and yet T4SS effectors still trigger a robust proinflammatory response via the host cell's detection of "pathogen associated activity" [83-85,97]. However this paradoxical situation has recently become more clear in light of a study which has shown that in spite of host translation blockage, IL-1 $\alpha$  and IL-1 $\beta$  are still released by infected cells via an MyD88-dependent

mechanism [154]. IL-1 then acts on uninfected bystander cells which release pro-inflammatory cytokines including TNF, initiating a potent innate immune response [154]. This turn of events is perhaps a reflection of the fact that though *L. pneumophila* is well equipped to manipulate single cell organisms, it is not well adapted to complex metazoans with advanced immune systems. In line with this thinking, we have shown that TNF contributes to the control of *L. pneumophila* infection both *in vitro* and *in vivo*.

Legionella is able to survive or even replicate in a multitude of diverse host cells, including amoeba, ciliates, nematode cells and human phagocytes [61,91]. In the course of my studies of L. pneumophila in macrophages and neutrophils, I made observations consistent with the hypothesis that L. pneumophila might differentiate into motile cyste-like MIFs in neutrophils, even though it has been shown not to do so in macrophages [95]. I observed that triple distilled H<sub>2</sub>O-mediated lysis of AM seemed to reduce the number of L. pneumophila that were culturable on CYE plates more strongly than triple distilled H<sub>2</sub>O-mediated lysis of neutrophils, consistent with a more environmentally stable form of L. pneumophila present in neutrophils than in AM (data not shown). However, this difference was not observed when AM and neutrophils were lysed with 0.7% Tween-20 in PBS, which presumably does not trigger the viable but non-culturable (VBNC) state in L. pneumophila. This may be because PBS is less hypotonic than triple distilled H<sub>2</sub>O, and therefore less of a stress. Furthermore, L. pneumophila in neutrophils were densely packed into shorter rounder shapes than observed AM, again consistent with MIFs being present in neutrophils (Fig. 16, [94]). Finally, the observation that neutrophils require ROS to kill L. pneumophila is also indicative that a robust form of the bacterium is present in these cells (Fig. 3). In order to test this hypothesis, one could use real time quantitative PCR (Q-PCR) to test AM and neutrophils infected with L. pneumophila for the expression of genes which are highly upregulated in MIFs, such as MIF-associated gene A (MagA) or superoxide dismutase (SodC) [91,161]. Knowledge of the form L. pneumophila assumes in different cells types could provide insight into the biology of the bacterium. In addition, different forms of L. pneumophila could potentially have antigenic differences from one another, and might differ in the way they interact with PRRs and antibodies, and differ in susceptibility to various antimicrobial pathways.

In contrast to intranasal *L. pneumophila* infection, TNFR1 and IL1R do not appear to be important for i.v. *L. pneumophila* infection, but instead neutrophil derived-IL18 and NK cell-derived IFNγ play a central role [100,115]. This observation is congruent with the hypothesis that TNF is important for priming AM, and IL-1 is important for recruiting neutrophils to the

lungs, both of which are not required for killing L. pneumophila delivered i.v.. However, it is interesting to note that neutrophil depletion (with α-Gr-1 clone NimpR14 or RB6-8C5) did not impact TNF levels in the serum in response to i.v. L. pneumophila infection, and that splenic monocytes stained positive for TNF in this model [100]. This suggests that monocytes rather than neutrophils secrete TNF in the blood in response to L. pneumophila. The question thus arises as to why neutrophils secrete TNF in the lungs / BALF but not in the blood in response to L. pneumophila. This could for instance be due to activating factors present in the BALF but not in the blood, or conversely, due to inhibitory factors present in the blood but not the BALF. Alternatively, physical changes in the neutrophil's environment from circulation to BALF might influence neutrophil behavior, as it was shown that adherent neutrophils signal via JNK in response to LPS, while neutrophils in suspension do not [162]. In addition, L. pneumophila is known to be relatively resistant to neutrophil-mediated killing as shown in an *in vitro* system [163], in spite of the fact that we have demonstrated that neutrophils kill L. pneumophila in the lung via ROS-dependent mechanisms. Though it is not known, to my knowledge, if neutrophils kill L. pneumophila in the circulation, it would also be interesting to determine if certain factors prevent neutrophils from killing L. pneumophila in the blood, or license them to kill L. pneumophila in the BALF. In summary, consideration of intranasal and i.v. infection data suggest that mechanisms that boost TNF production and neutrophil-mediated killing in the lung could be beneficial to treat patients with L. pneumophila pneumonia, while patients who progress into septic stages of Legionaires' disease could benefit from additional measures to augment NK cell-derived IFNy.

Besides neutrophils, monocytes are also recruited to the lungs and airspaces in significant numbers upon *L. pneumophila* lung infection [98]. Human monocytes have been shown to phagocytose *L. pneumophila* via type 1 complement receptor 1 (CR1) and type 3 complement receptor (CR3) [164], and can be activated to kill *L. pneumophila* via IFN $\gamma$  [165], indicating that monocytes have the potential to limit *L. pneumophila* infection. As mentioned in the results section, our experiment with CCR2-DTR mice potentially implicates inflammatory monocytes in the innate immune defense against *L. pneumophila* lung infection, while our experiment with CCR2<sup>-/-</sup> mice does not (Fig. 13). However, since DT might deplete AM in CCR2-DTR mice, and CCR2<sup>-/-</sup> mice might have compensatory mechanisms, it is difficult to draw conclusions from these results at this time. It would therefore be beneficial to determine if DT does in fact deplete AM in CCR2-DTR mice, by repeating the intranasal infection experiment with WT and CCR2-DTR mice, with or without treatment with DT, and with or without infection with

WT *L. pneumophila*. If uninfected CCR2-DTR mice treated with DT are depleted of AM, it will be clear that AM depletion is a direct effect of DT in these mice. If this is in fact the case, perhaps the dose of DT could be titrated down in order to deplete monocytes but not AM. In any case it would be beneficial to establish if AM are depleted upon DT treatment of these mice since they are used to determine the involvement of monocytes also in other infection models [166]. As an alternative to CCR2-DTR mice, DT treatment of CD11b-DTR mice, systemic liposomal clodronate administration and antibody-dependent ablation of CCR2<sup>hi</sup> cells could be employed to evaluate the involvement of monocytes in *L. pneumophila* lung infection, and reportedly do not affect AM [166].

In this thesis, we show that the TNF-mediated antibacterial mechanism in AM is dependent on cathepsin B and the rerouting of L. pneumophila to lysosomal compartments, where they are degraded via processes that involve acidification. This acidification likely occurs early in the infection cycle, since fusion of LCVs and lysosomes can be observed within an hour of infection in BMDM pre-treated with TNF. Consistent with this idea, a previous study found that the T4SS effector SidK inhibits the v-ATPase, and is highly induced upon dilution of stationary bacteria in fresh medium [81]. The observation that bafilomycin A1 alone reduced L. pneumophila replication in BMDM is expected, since L. pneumophila require acidification of the LCV in late stages of infection for proper LCV maturation [82]. However, how cathepsin B contributes to the control of L. pneumophila remains unclear. It is possible that cathepsin B directly degrades L. pneumophila in lysosomes, or has an indirect effect such as the activation of other effector molecules [167]. In fact, cathepsin B has been implicated in mechanisms as diverse as the degradation of Rip1 kinase and TLR signaling [167,168]. Interestingly, a recent study with Chlamydia muridarum, another pathogen that blocks phagosomal maturation and replicates in macrophages, also found a bactericidal role for cathepsin B [169]. Though no connection to TNF was made, this suggests that this mechanism might be broadly applicable to intracellular pathogens that block phagosomal acidification. Since inhibition of cathepsin B did not completely block the TNF-mediated restriction of L. pneumophila growth, inhibition was either incomplete, or part of this restriction is independent of cathepsin B. Of note, given that Z-VAD-FMK caused a block in TNF-mediated suppression of L. pneumophila replication in BMDM, further experiments will be required to determine if other caspases are involved in this TNF-mediated effect. For instance, the pan caspase inhibitor Q-VD-OPh could be used in a growth curve assay, with or without rTNF, since Q-VD-OPh does not inhibit cathepsins

[131]. Further study of this TNF-induced bactericidal mechanism is needed to assess its impact on the control of other intracellular pathogens.

It is well recognized that in murine models of *L. pneumophila* infection, bacterial replication is heavily restricted by flagellin-NAIP5-NLRC4-mediated mechanisms in AM, while in humans this mechanism is absent due to poor inflammasome induction by hNAIP, which instead detects type 3 secretion system (T3SS) needle proteins [32,170]. In this work, we highlight that neutrophil and monocyte-derived TNF in combination with ROS are essential effectors in the innate immune response to *L. pneumophila* lung infection, especially in the absence of inflammasome induction. This suggests that TNF and ROS are the key effectors mediating clearance of *L. pneumophila* in the human lung, and perhaps also of other intracellular bacteria lacking a T3SS.

## **Materials and Methods**

#### Mice and L. pneumophila infections

All mice used in this study were bred at the Swiss Federal Institute of Technology Zürich or purchased (Janvier Labs, Le Genest Saint Isle, France) and used at 6–20 weeks of age (ageand sex-matched within experiments). All mice were backcrossed on the C57BL/6 background. This study was conducted in accordance to the guidelines of the animal experimentation law (SR 455.163; TVV) of the Swiss Federal Government. The protocols were approved by the Cantonal Veterinary Office of the canton Zurich, Switzerland (permit number 125/2012). MemTNF KI mice and MN-TNF NAIP5<sup>129S1</sup> mice have been previously described [122,171]. Sequencing revealed the same mutations in 129S1 NAIP5 (NAIP5<sup>129S1</sup>) as previously described [119], with the exception of the two mutations in exon 15, which matched the C57Bl/6 DNA sequence. Bone marrow chimeric mice were generated as described previously [98], reconstituting with a total of 5 x 10<sup>6</sup> bone marrow cells and allowing at least 8 weeks for reconstitution of lethally irradiated Ly5.1<sup>+</sup> WT recipient mice.

The *L. pneumophila* strains used in this study were the wildtype strain JR32 (Philadelphia-1) [172], as well as modifications of JR32 including an aflagellated mutant ( $\Delta$ FlaA) [173], JR32-GFP [174], JR32-GFPind (pGS-GFP-04) [175], a deletion mutant lacking a functional Icm/Dot T4SS ( $\Delta$ T) [176], and  $\Delta$ T-GFP [174]. *L. pneumophila* was grown for 3 days at 37°C on charcoal yeast extract (CYE) agar plates before use, with chloramphenicol (5 mg/ml) added for selection of strains containing GFP-encoding plasmids.

For intranasal (i.n.) infections mice were anesthetized with an i.p. injection of 5 mg xylazine/100 mg ketamine per gram body weight, and 5 x  $10^6$  CFU *L. pneumophila* (unless otherwise specified) resuspended in 20 µl PBS were directly applied to one nostril using a Gilson pipette. Bacterial titers in bronchoalveolar lavage fluid (BALF) were determined by plating serial dilutions in PBS on CYE plates. For quantification of CFU from sorted AM and neutrophils, cells were lysed to release viable *L. pneumophila* by vortexing 30 seconds in 1 ml PBS with 0.7% Tween 20 prior to plating serial dilutions in PBS on CYE plates.

#### In vitro L. pneumophila infection of BMDM

Bone marrow-derived macrophages (BMDM) were generated by plating bone marrow in L929 conditioned medium containing M-CSF in 5 cm diameter non-cell culture treated Petri dishes as described previously [98]. On day 7, BMDM were harvested in ice cold PBS, 5% FBS, 2.5 mM EDTA by incubating 12 min in the fridge and resuspending by pipetting. The cells were

then seeded at 1 x  $10^5$  cells/well in 96-well plates and rested overnight prior to infection. L. pneumophila used for infection was grown for 3 days at 37°C on CYE agar plates, then inoculated in ACES yeast extract medium at an OD600 of 0.1 and grown for 21 h at 37°C before use, with chloramphenicol (5 mg/ml) added to maintain plasmids. BMDM were infected at MOI 0.1, infection was synchronized by centrifugation, and the cells were incubated for 3 days at 37°C, 5% CO<sub>2</sub>. Intra- and extracellular CFU were quantified on day 3 by plating on CYE plates after a 10 min incubation of BMDM in dH<sub>2</sub>O to lyse them. Where indicated, 100 ng/ml rTNF, 20 nM V-ATPase inhibitor bafilomycin A1 (Enzo Life Sciences, BML-CM110-0100), 25 µM cathepsin B inhibitor CA-074-Me (Enzo Life Sciences, BML-PI126-0001), 25 µM cathepsin D inhibitor pepstatin A (Enzo Life Sciences, ALX-260-085-M005), 50 µM caspase 3 inhibitor Ac-DEVD-CHO (Enzo Life Sciences, ALX-260-030-M001), 50 µM caspase 3/7 inhibitor Z-DEVD-FMK (Enzo Life Sciences, ALX-260-141-R020), 50 µM caspase 8 inhibitor Z-IETD-FMK (Enzo Life Sciences, ALX-260-144-R020), 50 µM caspase 9 inhibitor Z-LEHD-FMK (Enzo Life Sciences, ALX-260-145-R020) or 20 µM pan-caspase inhibitor Z-VAD-FMK (Enzo Life Sciences, ALX-260-020-M001) were added 15 min prior to infection.

#### In vitro L. pneumophila infection of autophagy deficient cell line

Immortalized autophagy deficient macrophage cell line M<sup>-</sup> was previously generated by Eicke Latz (generously provided by Prof. Dr. Christian Münz) from Atg5fl/fl mice treated with TATcre to eliminate Atg5. An untreated Atg5 sufficient control cell line (M<sup>+</sup>) was also generated. Cells were cultured in high glucose DMEM with 10% FBS and 100 mM sodium pyruvate. On day -1, M<sup>+</sup> and M<sup>-</sup> cells were trypsinated to remove them from T75 flasks, and were seeded in 96-well plates at  $1x10^4$  cell/well. On day 0 they were infected with WT *L. pneumophila* or  $\Delta$ FlaA *L. pneumophila* at MOI 1, infection was synchronized by centrifugation, and the cells were incubated for 3 days at 37°C, 5% CO<sub>2</sub>. Intra- and extracellular CFU were quantified on day 3 by plating on CYE plates after a 10 min incubation of M<sup>+</sup>/M<sup>-</sup> cells in dH<sub>2</sub>O to lyse them. Where indicated, 100 ng/ml rTNF were added 15 min prior to infection.

#### Neutrophil depletion experiments

Neutrophils were depleted in WT, TNF<sup>-/-</sup>, MN-TNF NAIP5<sup>129S1</sup> and CYBB<sup>-/-</sup> mice, infected with  $5x10^{6}$  CFU WT *L. pneumophila*, by 3 different methods. In the first, 500 µg  $\alpha$ -Ly6G (clone 1A8, Bio X cell, BE0075.1) were injected i.p. on day -1 and day 1, where day 0 is defined as the day of infection. In the second, 100 µg  $\alpha$ -Gr-1 (clone NIMP-R14, Lucerna Chem

AG, ab2557) were injected i.p. on day -1, 0, 1 and 2. In the third, 250  $\mu$ g  $\alpha$ -Ly6G (clone 1A8) i.p. on day -1, and 10  $\mu$ g  $\alpha$ -G-CSF (clone 67604, Bio- Techne AG, MAB414) i.p. on day -1, 0, 1 and 2. CFU in the BALF were quantified on CYE plates 3 days p.i..

#### **DT treatment of CCR2-DTR mice**

10 ng/g DT was injected i.p. in WT or CCR2-DTR mice, infected with  $5x10^6$  CFU WT *L*. *pneumophila*, on day -1, 1 and 3 (diluted from 1 µg/µl frozen stock). CFU in the BALF were quantified on CYE plates 5 days p.i..

#### **Microscopy experiments**

BMDM were seeded in 24-well plates containing 0.01% polylysine solution (Sigma P4707) coated 12 mm cover glasses (Faust 6080181) at 2.5 x  $10^5$  cells/well and rested overnight. Where indicated 100 ng/ml TNF (Peprotech 315-01A) or 200 U/ml IFN $\gamma$  was added to preactivate the BMDM. Cells were infected with *L. pneumophila*-GFP as described above at MOI 5 for 1 or 4 hours at 37°C, 5% CO<sub>2</sub>. For the final 30 minutes of incubation 1µM lysotracker Red DND-99 (Life Technologies, L7528) and 0.5 µg/ml Cholera toxin B AF647 (CTB-AF647, Life Technologies, C34778) were added to the cells. Cells were then washed with 1 ml PBS, and cover glasses were then placed on parafilm, and fixed 5-10 min at RT with 200 µl 4% PFA in PBS. Cells were washed 3 times with 200 µl PBS, incubating 2 min after applying each wash. Cover glasses were dipped in dH<sub>2</sub>O, blotted on paper towel to remove excess water and mounted on glass slides with cells facing downwards with 6 µl Mowiol (VWR, 475904-100). BMDM were then analyzed by confocal microscopy.

#### **Antibodies and Flow cytometry**

BALF was recovered from mice at the specified timepoint in 1 ml sterile PBS containing 5 mM EDTA as previously described (23150417). Cells were surface stained 30 min in cold FACS buffer (PBS with 2.5% FBS, 5 mM EDTA) with Siglec-F (clone E50-2440, Biolegend), CD11c (clone N418, Biolegend), Ly6G (clone 1A8, BD Biosciences), Ly6C (clone AL-21, BD Biosciences, Allschwil, Switzerland), CD11b (clone M1/70, Biolegend), CD45.1 (clone A20, BD Biosciences), CD45.2 (clone 104, BD Biosciences).

For intracellular staining of TNF (clone MP6-XT22, Biolegend), mice were injected i.p. with 50  $\mu$ l of 5 mg/ml Brefeldin A in EtOH (diluted with 100  $\mu$ l PBS) 3 hours prior to taking BALF. Lavage was performed with PBS containing 5  $\mu$ g/ml Brefeldin A, and was immediately placed on ice. After surface stain, cells were washed with FACS buffer and fixed, permeabilized and

stained using the BD Biosciences Cytofix/Cytoperm Kit according to the manufacturer's instructions. Data were acquired on an LSRII (BD Biosciences) and analyzed with FlowJo software (TreeStar, Ashland, OR). An Aria III instrument (BD Biosciences) was used for cell sorting.

#### **ROS** assay

ROS was stained in BALF cells by collecting BALF as usual in 1 ml PBS 5 mM EDTA, washing with 2 ml RPMI 10% FBS at RT, and staining with 60  $\mu$ M Dihydroethidium (Sigma, D7008) for 1 hour at 37°C, 5% CO<sub>2</sub>. For a po145sitive control, cells were stimulated with PMA/ionomycin. Cells were then washed in 2 ml cold FACS buffer and stained as usual with fluorescence-labeled Abs. Data were acquired on an LSRII (BD Biosciences), Dihydroethidium was measured in the FITC channel.

#### **CBA** assay

BD Bioscience CBA kit reagents were used to detect TNF (558299), IFN $\gamma$  (558296), IL-1 $\alpha$  (560157), IL-1 $\beta$  (560232), IL-12p70 (558303) and IL-6 (558301) in BMDM supernatant and BALF fluid. Lyophilized standards were diluted in assay diluent, so that the top standard had a concentration of 5 ng/ml. The standards were titrated by two-fold serial dilution including an 11<sup>th</sup> tube with assay diluent only as a blank. 25  $\mu$ l of each bead mix were added to a V-bottom plate (0.5  $\mu$ l / bead type). Diluent volumes were calculated as per kit instructions. 25  $\mu$ l sample or standard was added to bead mix, and incubated 1 hr at room temperature. 25  $\mu$ l of detection reagent was added to each well and incubated for 1 hr at room temperature. After washing twice with 150  $\mu$ l wash buffer, the samples were analyzed using an LSRII (BD Biosciences) as per manufacturer's instructions, and analyzed with FlowJo software (TreeStar, Ashland, OR).

#### **Statistical analysis**

Non-parametric tests, including the Kruskal-Wallis test with Dunn's post test, the Mann-Whitney test, or in the case of paired samples, the Wilcoxon test, were applied for statistical analysis using Prism GraphPad software (La Jolla, CA).

## Acknowledgments

I would like to thank my supervisor Annette Oxenius for giving me the opportunity to complete my PhD in her research group, and consequently also the opportunity to live in Switzerland. I very much appreciate the freedom I was given to pursue my own projects, as well as her encouraging discussions and expertise. I also thank my committee members Pascal Schneider, Salomé LeibundGut and Christian Münz for their input and helpful discussions.

Thanks goes also to the members of the Oxenius group and LeibundGut group for a nice work atmosphere, and especially Franziska Wagen and Nathalie Oetiker for help with genotyping, plate pouring, cell sorting and other lab work. I would also like to acknowledge Nathalie for correcting the French summary of the thesis. I would like to thank the institute staff, IT support and animal caretakers of the RCHCI for their tremendous support at the ETH. Thanks goes also to my friends who made life enjoyable, and to my family for their constant love and support. Many thanks to Sandra for her help with figures and for supporting me. Finally, I would like to thank Thierry Hennet for encouraging me to apply to the Zürich life science graduate school.

# References

- 1. Balloy V, Chignard M (2009) The innate immune response to Aspergillus fumigatus. Microbes Infect 11: 919-927.
- 2. Burri PH (2006) Structural aspects of postnatal lung development alveolar formation and growth. Biol Neonate 89: 313-322.
- 3. Chaudhuri N, Sabroe I (2008) Basic science of the innate immune system and the lung. Paediatr Respir Rev 9: 236-242.
- 4. Sabroe I, Parker LC, Dockrell DH, Davies DE, Dower SK, et al. (2007) Targeting the networks that underpin contiguous immunity in asthma and chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 175: 306-311.
- 5. Lai SK, Wang YY, Wirtz D, Hanes J (2009) Micro- and macrorheology of mucus. Adv Drug Deliv Rev 61: 86-100.
- 6. Leigh MW, Pittman JE, Carson JL, Ferkol TW, Dell SD, et al. (2009) Clinical and genetic aspects of primary ciliary dyskinesia/Kartagener syndrome. Genet Med 11: 473-487.
- 7. Bianchi ME (2007) DAMPs, PAMPs and alarmins: all we need to know about danger. J Leukoc Biol 81: 1-5.
- 8. Xiang M, Fan J (2010) Pattern recognition receptor-dependent mechanisms of acute lung injury. Mol Med 16: 69-82.
- 9. Parker LC, Prince LR, Sabroe I (2007) Translational mini-review series on Toll-like receptors: networks regulated by Toll-like receptors mediate innate and adaptive immunity. Clin Exp Immunol 147: 199-207.
- 10. Sallusto F, Geginat J, Lanzavecchia A (2004) Central memory and effector memory T cell subsets: function, generation, and maintenance. Annu Rev Immunol 22: 745-763.
- 11. Rijneveld AW, Florquin S, Hartung T, Speelman P, van der Poll T (2003) Anti-tumor necrosis factor antibody impairs the therapeutic effect of ceftriaxone in murine pneumococcal pneumonia. J Infect Dis 188: 282-285.
- 12. Rijneveld AW, Lauw FN, Schultz MJ, Florquin S, Te Velde AA, et al. (2002) The role of interferongamma in murine pneumococcal pneumonia. J Infect Dis 185: 91-97.
- 13. Dallaire F, Ouellet N, Bergeron Y, Turmel V, Gauthier MC, et al. (2001) Microbiological and inflammatory factors associated with the development of pneumococcal pneumonia. J Infect Dis 184: 292-300.
- 14. MacMicking JD, North RJ, LaCourse R, Mudgett JS, Shah SK, et al. (1997) Identification of nitric oxide synthase as a protective locus against tuberculosis. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 94: 5243-5248.
- 15. Flynn JL, Chan J (2001) Immunology of tuberculosis. Annu Rev Immunol 19: 93-129.
- 16. Orme IM, Robinson RT, Cooper AM (2015) The balance between protective and pathogenic immune responses in the TB-infected lung. Nat Immunol 16: 57-63.
- 17. Mogensen TH (2009) Pathogen recognition and inflammatory signaling in innate immune defenses. Clin Microbiol Rev 22: 240-273, Table of Contents.
- 18. Dunkelberger JR, Song WC (2010) Complement and its role in innate and adaptive immune responses. Cell Res 20: 34-50.
- 19. Ernst JD (2000) Bacterial inhibition of phagocytosis. Cell Microbiol 2: 379-386.
- 20. Thomas CA, Li Y, Kodama T, Suzuki H, Silverstein SC, et al. (2000) Protection from lethal grampositive infection by macrophage scavenger receptor-dependent phagocytosis. J Exp Med 191: 147-156.
- 21. Faridi MH, Maiguel D, Barth CJ, Stoub D, Day R, et al. (2009) Identification of novel agonists of the integrin CD11b/CD18. Bioorg Med Chem Lett 19: 6902-6906.
- 22. Isberg RR, Leong JM (1990) Multiple beta 1 chain integrins are receptors for invasin, a protein that promotes bacterial penetration into mammalian cells. Cell 60: 861-871.

- 23. Kumar H, Kawai T, Akira S (2009) Toll-like receptors and innate immunity. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 388: 621-625.
- 24. Brzezinska-Blaszczyk E, Wierzbicki M (2010) [Mast cell Toll-like receptors (TLRs)]. Postepy Hig Med Dosw (Online) 64: 11-21.
- 25. Acorci-Valerio MJ, Bordon-Graciani AP, Dias-Melicio LA, de Assis Golim M, Nakaira-Takahagi E, et al. (2010) Role of TLR2 and TLR4 in human neutrophil functions against Paracoccidioides brasiliensis. Scand J Immunol 71: 99-108.
- 26. Franchi L, Eigenbrod T, Munoz-Planillo R, Nunez G (2009) The inflammasome: a caspase-1activation platform that regulates immune responses and disease pathogenesis. Nat Immunol 10: 241-247.
- 27. Schroder K, Tschopp J (2010) The inflammasomes. Cell 140: 821-832.
- 28. Tenthorey JL, Kofoed EM, Daugherty MD, Malik HS, Vance RE (2014) Molecular basis for specific recognition of bacterial ligands by NAIP/NLRC4 inflammasomes. Mol Cell 54: 17-29.
- 29. Wen H, Miao EA, Ting JP (2013) Mechanisms of NOD-like receptor-associated inflammasome activation. Immunity 39: 432-441.
- Triantafilou K, Hughes TR, Triantafilou M, Morgan BP (2013) The complement membrane attack complex triggers intracellular Ca2+ fluxes leading to NLRP3 inflammasome activation. J Cell Sci 126: 2903-2913.
- 31. Vance RE (2015) The NAIP/NLRC4 inflammasomes. Curr Opin Immunol 32: 84-89.
- 32. Yang J, Zhao Y, Shi J, Shao F (2013) Human NAIP and mouse NAIP1 recognize bacterial type III secretion needle protein for inflammasome activation. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 110: 14408-14413.
- 33. Akhter A, Gavrilin MA, Frantz L, Washington S, Ditty C, et al. (2009) Caspase-7 activation by the Nlrc4/lpaf inflammasome restricts Legionella pneumophila infection. PLoS Pathog 5: e1000361.
- 34. Katagiri N, Shobuike T, Chang B, Kukita A, Miyamoto H (2012) The human apoptosis inhibitor NAIP induces pyroptosis in macrophages infected with Legionella pneumophila. Microbes Infect 14: 1123-1132.
- 35. Kortmann J, Brubaker SW, Monack DM (2015) Cutting Edge: Inflammasome Activation in Primary Human Macrophages Is Dependent on Flagellin. J Immunol.
- 36. Onoguchi K, Yoneyama M, Fujita T (2011) Retinoic acid-inducible gene-I-like receptors. J Interferon Cytokine Res 31: 27-31.
- 37. Kato H, Takahasi K, Fujita T (2011) RIG-I-like receptors: cytoplasmic sensors for non-self RNA. Immunol Rev 243: 91-98.
- 38. Zelova H, Hosek J (2013) TNF-alpha signalling and inflammation: interactions between old acquaintances. Inflamm Res 62: 641-651.
- Kriegler M, Perez C, DeFay K, Albert I, Lu SD (1988) A novel form of TNF/cachectin is a cell surface cytotoxic transmembrane protein: ramifications for the complex physiology of TNF. Cell 53: 45-53.
- 40. Black RA, Rauch CT, Kozlosky CJ, Peschon JJ, Slack JL, et al. (1997) A metalloproteinase disintegrin that releases tumour-necrosis factor-alpha from cells. Nature 385: 729-733.
- 41. Tracey D, Klareskog L, Sasso EH, Salfeld JG, Tak PP (2008) Tumor necrosis factor antagonist mechanisms of action: a comprehensive review. Pharmacol Ther 117: 244-279.
- 42. Bradley JR (2008) TNF-mediated inflammatory disease. J Pathol 214: 149-160.
- 43. Aderka D, Engelmann H, Maor Y, Brakebusch C, Wallach D (1992) Stabilization of the bioactivity of tumor necrosis factor by its soluble receptors. J Exp Med 175: 323-329.
- 44. Wajant H, Pfizenmaier K, Scheurich P (2003) Tumor necrosis factor signaling. Cell Death Differ 10: 45-65.
- 45. Hsu H, Shu HB, Pan MG, Goeddel DV (1996) TRADD-TRAF2 and TRADD-FADD interactions define two distinct TNF receptor 1 signal transduction pathways. Cell 84: 299-308.

- 46. Hsu H, Huang J, Shu HB, Baichwal V, Goeddel DV (1996) TNF-dependent recruitment of the protein kinase RIP to the TNF receptor-1 signaling complex. Immunity 4: 387-396.
- 47. Devin A, Cook A, Lin Y, Rodriguez Y, Kelliher M, et al. (2000) The distinct roles of TRAF2 and RIP in IKK activation by TNF-R1: TRAF2 recruits IKK to TNF-R1 while RIP mediates IKK activation. Immunity 12: 419-429.
- 48. Vallance P, Chan N (2001) Endothelial function and nitric oxide: clinical relevance. Heart 85: 342-350.
- 49. Mark KS, Trickler WJ, Miller DW (2001) Tumor necrosis factor-alpha induces cyclooxygenase-2 expression and prostaglandin release in brain microvessel endothelial cells. J Pharmacol Exp Ther 297: 1051-1058.
- 50. Ihnatko R, Kubes M (2007) TNF signaling: early events and phosphorylation. Gen Physiol Biophys 26: 159-167.
- 51. Muzio M, Stockwell BR, Stennicke HR, Salvesen GS, Dixit VM (1998) An induced proximity model for caspase-8 activation. J Biol Chem 273: 2926-2930.
- 52. Faustman D, Davis M (2010) TNF receptor 2 pathway: drug target for autoimmune diseases. Nat Rev Drug Discov 9: 482-493.
- 53. Bedard K, Krause KH (2007) The NOX family of ROS-generating NADPH oxidases: physiology and pathophysiology. Physiol Rev 87: 245-313.
- 54. McCaffrey RL, Schwartz JT, Lindemann SR, Moreland JG, Buchan BW, et al. (2010) Multiple mechanisms of NADPH oxidase inhibition by type A and type B Francisella tularensis. J Leukoc Biol 88: 791-805.
- 55. Paiva CN, Bozza MT (2014) Are reactive oxygen species always detrimental to pathogens? Antioxid Redox Signal 20: 1000-1037.
- 56. Michard C, Sperandio D, Bailo N, Pizarro-Cerda J, LeClaire L, et al. (2015) The Legionella Kinase LegK2 Targets the ARP2/3 Complex To Inhibit Actin Nucleation on Phagosomes and Allow Bacterial Evasion of the Late Endocytic Pathway. MBio 6: e00354-00315.
- 57. Allombert J, Fuche F, Michard C, Doublet P (2013) Molecular mimicry and original biochemical strategies for the biogenesis of a Legionella pneumophila replicative niche in phagocytic cells. Microbes Infect 15: 981-988.
- 58. Isberg RR, O'Connor TJ, Heidtman M (2009) The Legionella pneumophila replication vacuole: making a cosy niche inside host cells. Nat Rev Microbiol 7: 13-24.
- 59. Hindre T, Bruggemann H, Buchrieser C, Hechard Y (2008) Transcriptional profiling of Legionella pneumophila biofilm cells and the influence of iron on biofilm formation. Microbiology 154: 30-41.
- 60. Hoffmann C, Harrison CF, Hilbi H (2014) The natural alternative: protozoa as cellular models for Legionella infection. Cell Microbiol 16: 15-26.
- 61. Hellinga JR, Garduno RA, Kormish JD, Tanner JR, Khan D, et al. (2015) Identification of vacuoles containing extraintestinal differentiated forms of Legionella pneumophila in colonized Caenorhabditis elegans soil nematodes. Microbiologyopen.
- 62. Hubber A, Roy CR (2010) Modulation of host cell function by Legionella pneumophila type IV effectors. Annu Rev Cell Dev Biol 26: 261-283.
- 63. Newton HJ, Ang DK, van Driel IR, Hartland EL (2010) Molecular pathogenesis of infections caused by Legionella pneumophila. Clin Microbiol Rev 23: 274-298.
- 64. Shin S, Roy CR (2008) Host cell processes that influence the intracellular survival of Legionella pneumophila. Cell Microbiol 10: 1209-1220.
- 65. Losick VP, Isberg RR (2006) NF-kappaB translocation prevents host cell death after low-dose challenge by Legionella pneumophila. J Exp Med 203: 2177-2189.
- 66. Gaspar AH, Machner MP (2014) VipD is a Rab5-activated phospholipase A1 that protects Legionella pneumophila from endosomal fusion. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 111: 4560-4565.

- 67. Akhter A, Caution K, Abu Khweek A, Tazi M, Abdulrahman BA, et al. (2012) Caspase-11 promotes the fusion of phagosomes harboring pathogenic bacteria with lysosomes by modulating actin polymerization. Immunity 37: 35-47.
- 68. Horwitz MA (1983) The Legionnaires' disease bacterium (Legionella pneumophila) inhibits phagosome-lysosome fusion in human monocytes. J Exp Med 158: 2108-2126.
- 69. Sabria M, Campins M (2003) Legionnaires' disease: update on epidemiology and management options. Am J Respir Med 2: 235-243.
- 70. Parr A, Whitney EA, Berkelman RL (2014) Legionellosis on the Rise: A Review of Guidelines for Prevention in the United States. J Public Health Manag Pract.
- 71. Wickramasekaran RN, Sorvillo F, Kuo T (2015) Legionnaires' disease and associated comorbid conditions as causes of death in the U.S., 2000-2010. Public Health Rep 130: 222-229.
- 72. Schwake DO, Alum A, Abbaszadegan M (2015) Automobile windshield washer fluid: A potential source of transmission for Legionella. Sci Total Environ 526: 271-277.
- 73. Phin N, Parry-Ford F, Harrison T, Stagg HR, Zhang N, et al. (2014) Epidemiology and clinical management of Legionnaires' disease. Lancet Infect Dis 14: 1011-1021.
- 74. Copenhaver AM, Casson CN, Nguyen HT, Fung TC, Duda MM, et al. (2014) Alveolar macrophages and neutrophils are the primary reservoirs for Legionella pneumophila and mediate cytosolic surveillance of type IV secretion. Infect Immun 82: 4325-4336.
- 75. Hussell T, Bell TJ (2014) Alveolar macrophages: plasticity in a tissue-specific context. Nat Rev Immunol 14: 81-93.
- 76. Finsel I, Hilbi H (2015) Formation of a pathogen vacuole according to Legionella pneumophila: how to kill one bird with many stones. Cell Microbiol 17: 935-950.
- 77. Luo ZQ, Isberg RR (2004) Multiple substrates of the Legionella pneumophila Dot/Icm system identified by interbacterial protein transfer. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 101: 841-846.
- 78. Muller MP, Peters H, Blumer J, Blankenfeldt W, Goody RS, et al. (2010) The Legionella effector protein DrrA AMPylates the membrane traffic regulator Rab1b. Science 329: 946-949.
- 79. Hubber A, Arasaki K, Nakatsu F, Hardiman C, Lambright D, et al. (2014) The machinery at endoplasmic reticulum-plasma membrane contact sites contributes to spatial regulation of multiple Legionella effector proteins. PLoS Pathog 10: e1004222.
- 80. Neunuebel MR, Chen Y, Gaspar AH, Backlund PS, Jr., Yergey A, et al. (2011) De-AMPylation of the small GTPase Rab1 by the pathogen Legionella pneumophila. Science 333: 453-456.
- 81. Xu L, Shen X, Bryan A, Banga S, Swanson MS, et al. (2010) Inhibition of host vacuolar H+-ATPase activity by a Legionella pneumophila effector. PLoS Pathog 6: e1000822.
- 82. Sturgill-Koszycki S, Swanson MS (2000) Legionella pneumophila replication vacuoles mature into acidic, endocytic organelles. J Exp Med 192: 1261-1272.
- 83. Fontana MF, Banga S, Barry KC, Shen X, Tan Y, et al. (2011) Secreted bacterial effectors that inhibit host protein synthesis are critical for induction of the innate immune response to virulent Legionella pneumophila. PLoS Pathog 7: e1001289.
- Fontana MF, Shin S, Vance RE (2012) Activation of host mitogen-activated protein kinases by secreted Legionella pneumophila effectors that inhibit host protein translation. Infect Immun 80: 3570-3575.
- 85. Barry KC, Fontana MF, Portman JL, Dugan AS, Vance RE (2013) IL-1alpha signaling initiates the inflammatory response to virulent Legionella pneumophila in vivo. J Immunol 190: 6329-6339.
- 86. Banga S, Gao P, Shen X, Fiscus V, Zong WX, et al. (2007) Legionella pneumophila inhibits macrophage apoptosis by targeting pro-death members of the Bcl2 protein family. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 104: 5121-5126.
- 87. Ge J, Xu H, Li T, Zhou Y, Zhang Z, et al. (2009) A Legionella type IV effector activates the NF-kappaB pathway by phosphorylating the IkappaB family of inhibitors. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 106: 13725-13730.
- 88. Luo ZQ (2011) Striking a balance: modulation of host cell death pathways by legionella pneumophila. Front Microbiol 2: 36.

- 89. Zhu W, Hammad LA, Hsu F, Mao Y, Luo ZQ (2013) Induction of caspase 3 activation by multiple Legionella pneumophila Dot/Icm substrates. Cell Microbiol 15: 1783-1795.
- 90. Aurass P, Schlegel M, Metwally O, Harding CR, Schroeder GN, et al. (2013) The Legionella pneumophila Dot/Icm-secreted effector PIcC/CegC1 together with PIcA and PIcB promotes virulence and belongs to a novel zinc metallophospholipase C family present in bacteria and fungi. J Biol Chem 288: 11080-11092.
- 91. Robertson P, Abdelhady H, Garduno RA (2014) The many forms of a pleomorphic bacterial pathogen-the developmental network of Legionella pneumophila. Front Microbiol 5: 670.
- 92. Fonseca MV, Swanson MS (2014) Nutrient salvaging and metabolism by the intracellular pathogen Legionella pneumophila. Front Cell Infect Microbiol 4: 12.
- 93. Byrne B, Swanson MS (1998) Expression of Legionella pneumophila virulence traits in response to growth conditions. Infect Immun 66: 3029-3034.
- 94. Richards AM, Von Dwingelo JE, Price CT, Abu Kwaik Y (2013) Cellular microbiology and molecular ecology of Legionella-amoeba interaction. Virulence 4: 307-314.
- 95. Abdelhady H, Garduno RA (2013) The progeny of Legionella pneumophila in human macrophages shows unique developmental traits. FEMS Microbiol Lett 349: 99-107.
- 96. Fontana MF, Vance RE (2011) Two signal models in innate immunity. Immunol Rev 243: 26-39.
- 97. Casson CN, Copenhaver AM, Zwack EE, Nguyen HT, Strowig T, et al. (2013) Caspase-11 activation in response to bacterial secretion systems that access the host cytosol. PLoS Pathog 9: e1003400.
- 98. LeibundGut-Landmann S, Weidner K, Hilbi H, Oxenius A (2011) Nonhematopoietic cells are key players in innate control of bacterial airway infection. J Immunol 186: 3130-3137.
- 99. Tateda K, Moore TA, Deng JC, Newstead MW, Zeng X, et al. (2001) Early recruitment of neutrophils determines subsequent T1/T2 host responses in a murine model of Legionella pneumophila pneumonia. J Immunol 166: 3355-3361.
- 100. Sporri R, Joller N, Hilbi H, Oxenius A (2008) A novel role for neutrophils as critical activators of NK cells. J Immunol 181: 7121-7130.
- 101. Tateda K, Moore TA, Newstead MW, Tsai WC, Zeng X, et al. (2001) Chemokine-dependent neutrophil recruitment in a murine model of Legionella pneumonia: potential role of neutrophils as immunoregulatory cells. Infect Immun 69: 2017-2024.
- 102. Mascarenhas DP, Pereira MS, Manin GZ, Hori JI, Zamboni DS (2015) Interleukin 1 receptor-driven neutrophil recruitment accounts to MyD88-dependent pulmonary clearance of legionella pneumophila infection in vivo. J Infect Dis 211: 322-330.
- 103. Yiu HH, Graham AL, Stengel RF (2012) Dynamics of a cytokine storm. PLoS One 7: e45027.
- 104. Cohen J (2002) The immunopathogenesis of sepsis. Nature 420: 885-891.
- 105. Dinarello CA (1997) Proinflammatory and anti-inflammatory cytokines as mediators in the pathogenesis of septic shock. Chest 112: 321s-329s.
- 106. Schuelein R, Ang DK, van Driel IR, Hartland EL (2011) Immune Control of Legionella Infection: An in vivo Perspective. Front Microbiol 2: 126.
- 107. Lanternier F, Tubach F, Ravaud P, Salmon D, Dellamonica P, et al. (2013) Incidence and risk factors of Legionella pneumophila pneumonia during anti-tumor necrosis factor therapy: a prospective French study. Chest 144: 990-998.
- 108. Wondergem MJ, Voskuyl AE, van Agtmael MA (2004) A case of legionellosis during treatment with a TNFalpha antagonist. Scand J Infect Dis 36: 310-311.
- 109. Giassi Kde S, Furlanetto V, Jr., Fialho S, Gomes Ribeiro G, Pereira IA (2014) [Legionella pneumonia after infliximab in a patient with rheumatoid arthritis]. Rev Bras Reumatol 54: 397-399.
- 110. Tubach F, Ravaud P, Salmon-Ceron D, Petitpain N, Brocq O, et al. (2006) Emergence of Legionella pneumophila pneumonia in patients receiving tumor necrosis factor-alpha antagonists. Clin Infect Dis 43: e95-100.

- 111. Shin S, Case CL, Archer KA, Nogueira CV, Kobayashi KS, et al. (2008) Type IV secretion-dependent activation of host MAP kinases induces an increased proinflammatory cytokine response to Legionella pneumophila. PLoS Pathog 4: e1000220.
- 112. Skerrett SJ, Martin TR (1996) Roles for tumor necrosis factor alpha and nitric oxide in resistance of rat alveolar macrophages to Legionella pneumophila. Infect Immun 64: 3236-3243.
- 113. Liu M, Conover GM, Isberg RR (2008) Legionella pneumophila EnhC is required for efficient replication in tumour necrosis factor alpha-stimulated macrophages. Cell Microbiol 10: 1906-1923.
- 114. Fujita M, Ikegame S, Harada E, Ouchi H, Inoshima I, et al. (2008) TNF receptor 1 and 2 contribute in different ways to resistance to Legionella pneumophila-induced mortality in mice. Cytokine 44: 298-303.
- 115. Sporri R, Joller N, Albers U, Hilbi H, Oxenius A (2006) MyD88-dependent IFN-gamma production by NK cells is key for control of Legionella pneumophila infection. J Immunol 176: 6162-6171.
- 116. Lightfield KL, Persson J, Brubaker SW, Witte CE, von Moltke J, et al. (2008) Critical function for Naip5 in inflammasome activation by a conserved carboxy-terminal domain of flagellin. Nat Immunol 9: 1171-1178.
- 117. Cerqueira DM, Pereira MS, Silva AL, Cunha LD, Zamboni DS (2015) Caspase-1 but Not Caspase-11 Is Required for NLRC4-Mediated Pyroptosis and Restriction of Infection by Flagellated Legionella Species in Mouse Macrophages and In Vivo. J Immunol 195: 2303-2311.
- 118. Miao EA, Leaf IA, Treuting PM, Mao DP, Dors M, et al. (2010) Caspase-1-induced pyroptosis is an innate immune effector mechanism against intracellular bacteria. Nat Immunol 11: 1136-1142.
- 119. Wright EK, Goodart SA, Growney JD, Hadinoto V, Endrizzi MG, et al. (2003) Naip5 affects host susceptibility to the intracellular pathogen Legionella pneumophila. Curr Biol 13: 27-36.
- 120. Diez E, Lee SH, Gauthier S, Yaraghi Z, Tremblay M, et al. (2003) Birc1e is the gene within the Lgn1 locus associated with resistance to Legionella pneumophila. Nat Genet 33: 55-60.
- 121. Lamkanfi M, Amer A, Kanneganti TD, Munoz-Planillo R, Chen G, et al. (2007) The Nod-like receptor family member Naip5/Birc1e restricts Legionella pneumophila growth independently of caspase-1 activation. J Immunol 178: 8022-8027.
- 122. Grivennikov SI, Tumanov AV, Liepinsh DJ, Kruglov AA, Marakusha BI, et al. (2005) Distinct and nonredundant in vivo functions of TNF produced by t cells and macrophages/neutrophils: protective and deleterious effects. Immunity 22: 93-104.
- 123. Trunk G, Oxenius A (2012) Innate instruction of CD4+ T cell immunity in respiratory bacterial infection. J Immunol 189: 616-628.
- 124. Joller N, Weber SS, Muller AJ, Sporri R, Selchow P, et al. (2010) Antibodies protect against intracellular bacteria by Fc receptor-mediated lysosomal targeting. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 107: 20441-20446.
- 125. Weber SS, Ducry J, Oxenius A (2014) Dissecting the contribution of IgG subclasses in restricting airway infection with Legionella pneumophila. J Immunol 193: 4053-4059.
- 126. Lightfield KL, Persson J, Trinidad NJ, Brubaker SW, Kofoed EM, et al. (2011) Differential requirements for NAIP5 in activation of the NLRC4 inflammasome. Infect Immun 79: 1606-1614.
- 127. Pereira MS, Morgantetti GF, Massis LM, Horta CV, Hori JI, et al. (2011) Activation of NLRC4 by Flagellated Bacteria Triggers Caspase-1-Dependent and -Independent Responses To Restrict Legionella pneumophila Replication in Macrophages and In Vivo. J Immunol 187: 6447-6455.
- 128. Harada T, Miyake M, Imai Y (2007) Evasion of Legionella pneumophila from the bactericidal system by reactive oxygen species (ROS) in macrophages. Microbiol Immunol 51: 1161-1170.
- 129. Hebert JC, O'Reilly M, Yuenger K, Shatney L, Yoder DW, et al. (1994) Augmentation of alveolar macrophage phagocytic activity by granulocyte colony stimulating factor and interleukin-1: influence of splenectomy. J Trauma 37: 909-912.
- 130. Coers J, Vance RE, Fontana MF, Dietrich WF (2007) Restriction of Legionella pneumophila growth in macrophages requires the concerted action of cytokine and Naip5/Ipaf signalling pathways. Cell Microbiol 9: 2344-2357.
- 131. Chauvier D, Ankri S, Charriaut-Marlangue C, Casimir R, Jacotot E (2007) Broad-spectrum caspase inhibitors: from myth to reality? Cell Death Differ 14: 387-391.
- 132. Santic M, Molmeret M, Abu Kwaik Y (2005) Maturation of the Legionella pneumophila-containing phagosome into a phagolysosome within gamma interferon-activated macrophages. Infect Immun 73: 3166-3171.
- 133. Nash TW, Libby DM, Horwitz MA (1988) IFN-gamma-activated human alveolar macrophages inhibit the intracellular multiplication of Legionella pneumophila. J Immunol 140: 3978-3981.
- 134. Choy A, Dancourt J, Mugo B, O'Connor TJ, Isberg RR, et al. (2012) The Legionella effector RavZ inhibits host autophagy through irreversible Atg8 deconjugation. Science 338: 1072-1076.
- 135. Vergne I, Singh S, Roberts E, Kyei G, Master S, et al. (2006) Autophagy in immune defense against Mycobacterium tuberculosis. Autophagy 2: 175-178.
- 136. Hottz ED, Lopes JF, Freitas C, Valls-de-Souza R, Oliveira MF, et al. (2013) Platelets mediate increased endothelium permeability in dengue through NLRP3-inflammasome activation. Blood 122: 3405-3414.
- 137. Case CL, Kohler LJ, Lima JB, Strowig T, de Zoete MR, et al. (2013) Caspase-11 stimulates rapid flagellin-independent pyroptosis in response to Legionella pneumophila. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 110: 1851-1856.
- 138. Gaupp S, Pitt D, Kuziel WA, Cannella B, Raine CS (2003) Experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis (EAE) in CCR2(-/-) mice: susceptibility in multiple strains. Am J Pathol 162: 139-150.
- 139. Nash TW, Libby DM, Horwitz MA (1984) Interaction between the legionnaires' disease bacterium (Legionella pneumophila) and human alveolar macrophages. Influence of antibody, lymphokines, and hydrocortisone. J Clin Invest 74: 771-782.
- 140. Buchrieser C (2011) Legionella: from protozoa to humans. Front Microbiol 2: 182.
- 141. Chen Y, Tateda K, Fujita K, Ishii T, Ishii Y, et al. (2010) Sequential changes of Legionella antigens and bacterial load in the lungs and urines of a mouse model of pneumonia. Diagn Microbiol Infect Dis 66: 253-260.
- 142. Lippmann J, Muller HC, Naujoks J, Tabeling C, Shin S, et al. (2011) Dissection of a type I interferon pathway in controlling bacterial intracellular infection in mice. Cell Microbiol 13: 1668-1682.
- 143. Duan M, Li WC, Vlahos R, Maxwell MJ, Anderson GP, et al. (2012) Distinct macrophage subpopulations characterize acute infection and chronic inflammatory lung disease. J Immunol 189: 946-955.
- 144. Yamamoto Y, Klein TW, Newton CA, Widen R, Friedman H (1988) Growth of Legionella pneumophila in thioglycolate-elicited peritoneal macrophages from A/J mice. Infect Immun 56: 370-375.
- 145. Fortier A, Diez E, Gros P (2005) Naip5/Birc1e and susceptibility to Legionella pneumophila. Trends Microbiol 13: 328-335.
- 146. Simpson EM, Linder CC, Sargent EE, Davisson MT, Mobraaten LE, et al. (1997) Genetic variation among 129 substrains and its importance for targeted mutagenesis in mice. Nat Genet 16: 19-27.
- 147. Threadgill DW, Yee D, Matin A, Nadeau JH, Magnuson T (1997) Genealogy of the 129 inbred strains: 129/SvJ is a contaminated inbred strain. Mamm Genome 8: 390-393.
- 148. Lapaque N, Takeuchi O, Corrales F, Akira S, Moriyon I, et al. (2006) Differential inductions of TNFalpha and IGTP, IIGP by structurally diverse classic and non-classic lipopolysaccharides. Cell Microbiol 8: 401-413.
- 149. Kurahashi K, Kajikawa O, Sawa T, Ohara M, Gropper MA, et al. (1999) Pathogenesis of septic shock in Pseudomonas aeruginosa pneumonia. J Clin Invest 104: 743-750.

- 150. Tracey KJ, Fong Y, Hesse DG, Manogue KR, Lee AT, et al. (1987) Anti-cachectin/TNF monoclonal antibodies prevent septic shock during lethal bacteraemia. Nature 330: 662-664.
- 151. Hinshaw LB, Tekamp-Olson P, Chang AC, Lee PA, Taylor FB, Jr., et al. (1990) Survival of primates in LD100 septic shock following therapy with antibody to tumor necrosis factor (TNF alpha). Circ Shock 30: 279-292.
- 152. Winn WC, Jr., Myerowitz RL (1981) The pathology of the Legionella pneumonias. A review of 74 cases and the literature. Hum Pathol 12: 401-422.
- 153. Yu H, Higa F, Koide M, Haranaga S, Yara S, et al. (2009) Lung abscess caused by Legionella species: implication of the immune status of hosts. Intern Med 48: 1997-2002.
- 154. Copenhaver AM, Casson CN, Nguyen HT, Duda MM, Shin S (2015) IL-1R signaling enables bystander cells to overcome bacterial blockade of host protein synthesis. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 112: 7557-7562.
- 155. Arinuma Y, Nogi S, Ishikawa Y, Nakayama H, Hashimoto A, et al. (2015) Fatal complication of Legionella pneumophila pneumonia in a tocilizumab-treated rheumatoid arthritis patient. Intern Med 54: 1125-1130.
- 156. Reyes-Ruvalcaba D, Gonzalez-Cortes C, Rivero-Lezcano OM (2008) Human phagocytes lack the ability to kill Mycobacterium gordonae, a non-pathogenic mycobacteria. Immunol Lett 116: 72-78.
- 157. Fernandez-Serrano S, Dorca J, Coromines M, Carratala J, Gudiol F, et al. (2003) Molecular inflammatory responses measured in blood of patients with severe community-acquired pneumonia. Clin Diagn Lab Immunol 10: 813-820.
- 158. Lorenz J, Zahlten J, Pollok I, Lippmann J, Scharf S, et al. (2011) Legionella pneumophila-induced IkappaBzeta-dependent expression of interleukin-6 in lung epithelium. Eur Respir J 37: 648-657.
- 159. van der Poll T, Keogh CV, Guirao X, Buurman WA, Kopf M, et al. (1997) Interleukin-6 genedeficient mice show impaired defense against pneumococcal pneumonia. J Infect Dis 176: 439-444.
- 160. Chen KW, Gross CJ, Sotomayor FV, Stacey KJ, Tschopp J, et al. (2014) The neutrophil NLRC4 inflammasome selectively promotes IL-1beta maturation without pyroptosis during acute Salmonella challenge. Cell Rep 8: 570-582.
- 161. Hiltz MF, Sisson GR, Brassinga AK, Garduno E, Garduno RA, et al. (2004) Expression of magA in Legionella pneumophila Philadelphia-1 is developmentally regulated and a marker of formation of mature intracellular forms. J Bacteriol 186: 3038-3045.
- 162. Arndt PG, Suzuki N, Avdi NJ, Malcolm KC, Worthen GS (2004) Lipopolysaccharide-induced c-Jun NH2-terminal kinase activation in human neutrophils: role of phosphatidylinositol 3-Kinase and Syk-mediated pathways. J Biol Chem 279: 10883-10891.
- 163. Horwitz MA, Silverstein SC (1981) Interaction of the Legionnaires' disease bacterium (Legionella pneumophila) with human phagocytes. I. L. pneumophila resists killing by polymorphonuclear leukocytes, antibody, and complement. J Exp Med 153: 386-397.
- 164. Payne NR, Horwitz MA (1987) Phagocytosis of Legionella pneumophila is mediated by human monocyte complement receptors. J Exp Med 166: 1377-1389.
- 165. Bhardwaj N, Nash TW, Horwitz MA (1986) Interferon-gamma-activated human monocytes inhibit the intracellular multiplication of Legionella pneumophila. J Immunol 137: 2662-2669.
- 166. Dhaliwal K, Scholefield E, Ferenbach D, Gibbons M, Duffin R, et al. (2012) Monocytes control second-phase neutrophil emigration in established lipopolysaccharide-induced murine lung injury. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 186: 514-524.
- 167. Conus S, Simon HU (2010) Cathepsins and their involvement in immune responses. Swiss Med Wkly 140: w13042.
- 168. McComb S, Shutinoski B, Thurston S, Cessford E, Kumar K, et al. (2014) Cathepsins limit macrophage necroptosis through cleavage of Rip1 kinase. J Immunol 192: 5671-5678.

- 169. Rajaram K, Nelson DE (2015) Chlamydia muridarum Infection of Macrophages Elicits Bactericidal Nitric Oxide Production via Reactive Oxygen Species and Cathepsin B. Infect Immun 83: 3164-3175.
- 170. Vinzing M, Eitel J, Lippmann J, Hocke AC, Zahlten J, et al. (2008) NAIP and Ipaf control Legionella pneumophila replication in human cells. J Immunol 180: 6808-6815.
- 171. Olleros ML, Vesin D, Bisig R, Santiago-Raber ML, Schuepbach-Mallepell S, et al. (2012) Membranebound TNF induces protective immune responses to M. bovis BCG infection: regulation of memTNF and TNF receptors comparing two memTNF molecules. PLoS One 7: e31469.
- 172. Sadosky AB, Wiater LA, Shuman HA (1993) Identification of Legionella pneumophila genes required for growth within and killing of human macrophages. Infect Immun 61: 5361-5373.
- 173. Weber SS, Joller N, Kuntzel AB, Sporri R, Tchang VS, et al. (2012) Identification of protective B cell antigens of Legionella pneumophila. J Immunol 189: 841-849.
- 174. Tiaden A, Spirig T, Weber SS, Bruggemann H, Bosshard R, et al. (2007) The Legionella pneumophila response regulator LqsR promotes host cell interactions as an element of the virulence regulatory network controlled by RpoS and LetA. Cell Microbiol 9: 2903-2920.
- 175. Hilbi H, Segal G, Shuman HA (2001) Icm/dot-dependent upregulation of phagocytosis by Legionella pneumophila. Mol Microbiol 42: 603-617.
- 176. Segal G, Purcell M, Shuman HA (1998) Host cell killing and bacterial conjugation require overlapping sets of genes within a 22-kb region of the Legionella pneumophila genome. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 95: 1669-1674.